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Terminology and references

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “Canp”, “IntelGenx”, “we”,
Corp. and IntelGenx Corp., our wholly-owned Canadiabsidiary.

us”, and “our” refer collectively to IntelGenx Technolog

In this Form 10-K, unless otherwise specified,natinetary amounts are in United States dollarseédirences to “$”, “U.S.$", “U.S. dollars”
and “dollars” mean U.S. dollars and all refereneesC$”, “Canadian dollars” and “CDN$imean Canadian dollars. To the extent that
monetary amounts are derived from our consolidéitehcial statements included elsewhere in thisWF@0K, they have been translated i
U.S. dollars in accordance with our accounting gieti as described therein. Unless otherwise ingticabther Canadian dollar monet
amounts have been translated into United Statdardalt the December 31, 2010 closing rate repdyettie Bank of Canada, being U.S. $.
= C$0.9946.




PART |
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Staements

Certain statements included or incorporated byreefee in this report constitute forwaabking statements within the meaning of applic
securities laws. All statements contained in tkigort that are not clearly historical in nature fmevard-looking, and the words “anticipate”
“believe”, “continue”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intadf, “may”, “plan”, “will", “shall” and other similar expressions are generally intdrtd
identify forwardiooking statements within the meaning of SectioA 27 the Securities Act and Section 21E of the $i¢es Exchange Act
1934. All forwardlooking statements are based on our beliefs andhgssons based on information available at the tiheeassumption w
made. These forward-looking statements are notdbhaséhistorical facts but on managemergkpectations regarding future growth, resul
operations, performance, future capital and othgremditures (including the amount, nature and ssumf funding thereof), competiti
advantages, business prospects and opportuniteesiaFdiooking statements involve significant known andkmown risks, uncertaintie
assumptions and other factors that may cause dualaesults, levels of activity, performance ohiawements to differ materially from thc
implied by forwardlooking statements. These factors should be coresidearefully and prospective investors shouldpiate undue relian
on the forward-looking statements. Although thesmardlooking statements contained in this report or rpooated by reference herein
based upon what management believes to be reasoaaflimptions, there is no assurance that actsialtgevill be consistent with the
forward-looking statements. These forwdodking statements are made as of the date ofepisrt or as of the date specified in the docun
incorporated by reference herein, as the case maljhe Company undertakes no obligation to update anforward- looking statements t
reflect events or circumstances after the date onhich such statements were made or to reflect the ogrrence of unanticipated events
except as may be required by applicable securitidaws. The factors set forth in Item 1A., "Risk Factoras, well as any cautionary langu
in this report, provide examples of risks, uncetias and events that may cause IntelGenx' acegmllts to differ materially from tl
expectations IntelGenx describes in our forwlwmking statements. Before you invest in the commtotk, you should be aware that
occurrence of the events described as risk faetodselsewhere in this report could have a matadakrse effect on our business, oper:
results and financial condition.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Corporate History

Our predecessor company, Big Flash Corp., was fiecated in Delaware on July 27, 1999. On April 2806, Big Flash, through its Canac
holding corporation, completed the acquisition mtelGenx Corp., a Canadian company incorporatedunme 15, 2003. The Company did
have any operations prior to the acquisition oél@denx Corp. In connection with the acquisition, eh@nged our name from Big Flash Corj
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. IntelGenx Corp. hagtiooed operations as our operating subsidiary.

Overview

We are a drug delivery company focusing on the idgveent of novel, orally administered drug delivergducts based on our proprietary
drug delivery technologies. We have positioned elwes as a provider of product development servioeghe pharmaceutical indust
including the branded and generic pharmaceuticakets.

Drug delivery systems are an important tool inthads of physicians for purposes of optimizing dharapy. For the pharmaceutical indu
drug delivery systems represent an opportunityterel the market exclusivity and product lifecyefedrugs whose patent protection is nee
expiration.

Controlled release (CR) delivery systems play apartant role in the development of orally administedrug delivery systems. Control
release technology provides patients with the reguamount of medication over a gietermined, prolonged period of time. Because €
reduced fluctuation of the active drug in the bl@odl the avoidance of plasma spikes, controlleshssl products are deemed safer and
tolerable than conventional dosage forms, and Bhee/n better patient compliance.

Our primary business strategy is to develop phaemtézal products based upon our proprietary druiyely technologies and license
commercial rights to companies in the pharmacelitichstry once the viability of a product has beemonstrated. In exchange for licen:
rights to our products, we seek funding consistihg combination of one or more of the followingtvance down payments, milestone f
reimbursement for development costs, and royaltiessales. In addition, we may receive a manufargurioyalty from our contra
manufacturers for the exclusive right to manufeetour products. The companies we partner with ypieally responsible for managing
regulatory approval process of the product withWimited States Food and Drug Administration (FDAJlr other regulatory bodies, as v
as for the marketing and distribution of the pradu©n a case-bgase basis, IntelGenx may be responsible for pioyidll or part of th
documentation required for the regulatory submissiio addition to pursuing partnering arrangemeémas provide for the full funding of a dr
development project, we may undertake developmieselected product opportunities until the markgtmd distribution stage. We would f
assess the potential and associated costs forssfctdevelopment of a product, and then deterratnghich stage it would be most pruder
seek a partner, balancing costs against the patdotihigher returns later in the development pssc
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Technology Platforms

Our product development efforts are based uporetdedivery platform technologies: (1) a Multilay€ablet technology (2) an Oral Fi
technology, and (3) a Mucoadhesive Tablet technoldgur Multilayer Tablet platform technology allowsr the development of o
controlled-release products. It is designed to &esatile and to reduce manufacturing costs as cadpa competing oral extendeeleas
delivery technologies. The Oral Film technologyoal$ for the instant delivery of pharmaceuticalshe oral cavity, while the Mucoadhes
Tablet allows for the controlled release of acBubstances to the oral mucosa.

The Multilayer Tablet (“VersaTab'platform technology represents a new generatiatoafrolled release layered tablets designed to hate
the release of active compounds. The technolotpaged on a multilayer tablet with an active coyefeand erodible cover layers. The rele
of the active drug from the core matrix initiallgaurs in a firstsrder fashion. As the cover layers start to ertitksiy permeability for the acti
ingredient through the cover layers increases. TtmesMultilayer Tablet can produce quasi-linear@order) kinetics for releasing a chem
compound over a desired period of time. The erosidm of the cover layers can be customized acegrii the physicahemical properties
the active drug. In addition, our multilayer tectogy offers the opportunity to develop combinatfmoeducts in a regulatorgempliant forma
Combination products are made up of two or mor@adbgredients that are combined into a singleadesorm.

The Oral Film technology (“VersaFilm”) is made upaothin (2535 micron) polymeric film comprised of United Stateharmacopeia (US
components that are approved by the FDA for ugead, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic products. Ddrfvem the edible film technology us
for breath strips and initially developed for tmstant delivery of savory flavors to food substsatihe VersaFilm technology is designe
provide a rapid response compared to existing autitwgal tablets. The VersaFilm technology is inteshdor indications requiring rapid on
of action, such as migraine, motion sickness, geetysfunction, and nausea.

The Mucoadhesive Tablet (“AdVersa$ a drug delivery system capable of adhering ¢éodtal mucosa and releasing the drug onto theof
application at a controlled rate. The MucoadheSiablet is designed to provide the following advaetarelative to competing technologies
it avoids the first pass effect, whereby the lisetabolizes the active ingredient and greatly redube level of drug in the systemic circulat
(ii) it leads to a higher absorption rate in thal@avity as compared to the conventional oralepand (iii) it achieves a rapid onset of actior
the drug. The Mucoadhesive Tablet technology isgtesl to be versatile in order to permit the sitagplication, residence time, and rat
release of the drug to be modulated to achievediseed results.

Product Portfolio

Our product portfolio includes a blend of genen aranded products based on our proprietary dglitechnology (“generic’drugs ar
essentially copies of drugs that have already vedeFDA approval).

INT0001/2004. This is the most advanced generidgecbinvolving our multilayer tablet technology. egalency with the reference prod
Toprol XL and its European equivalent Beloc-ZOK Heeen demonstrated-vitro . The product has been tested in phase | studiestal
development activities are ongoing.

INTO004/2006. The development of a new, highemgjite of the antidepressant Bupropion HCI, the acingredient in Wellbutrin XL®has
been completed. A regulatory file for a 505(b)(@wWNDrug Application (NDA) submission was filed irpAl, 2009. In a complete respol
letter received on February 4, 2010, the FDA cometton the food effect, which was observed in tafeffect study included in the NC
and on the lack of a commercial manufacturer. Beghes have been resolved with new pivotal batbkexy manufactured by Pillar5 Phal
and, using product from these pivotal batches,va ciical study is being undertaken to addressftioel effect. A response to the comp
response letter is expected to be filed in the sécmarter of 2011.

INT0006/2005. We have entered into a developmergeagent with Azur Pharma for the development andufeture of a prenatal vitan
supplement. The product was developed using prazhettific intellectual property that we develop@be product was launched in the Un
States during the fourth quarter of 2008 undebtiamd name Gesticare®.

INT0010/2006. We initially entered into an agreemeith Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc. (formerly Canha@serapeutics Inc., “Cynapsudgr
the development of a buccal mucoadhesive tabletymtocontaining a cannabinolihsed drug for the treatment of neuropathic pathreuse
in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. A adinbiostudy undertaken in 2009 on the mucoadhesibtet developed by IntelGe
indicated improved bioavailability and reducedtfipass metabolization of the drug. In th& duarter of 2010, we acquired from Cynapsus
control of, and interest in, this project goingviard. We also obtained worldwide rights to US Pa#%h92,328 and all corresponding fore
patents and patent applications to exclusively igvand further provide intellectual property paiten for this project. We are prepar
pivotal activities, including manufacturing scale-and a clinical efficacy study.
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INTO007/2006. An oral film product based on ourgetary edible film technology is currently in tleptimization stage. The produc
intended for the treatment of erectile dysfunct{&@®). The results of a phase | pilot study that wasducted in the third quarter of 2(
indicate that the product is bioequivalent with taference listed drug.

INTO008/2007. An oral film product based on our gietary edible film technology is currently in tipévotal stage of development, w
pivotal batch manufacturing expected to be comglatethe third quarter of 2011. The product is muted for the treatment of migraine.
results of a phase | pilot study that was condu@ie2D09 indicate that the product is bioequivaheith the reference listed drug. In the ti
guarter of 2010, we entered into an agreement ReitiHill Biopharma Ltd. for the co-development awthenercialization of this product.

INT0019/2009. An oral film product based on ourgetary edible film technology is currently in tearly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of diarrhea.

INT0020/2010. An oral film product based on ourietary edible film technology is currently beitgsted for bioequivalence against
reference listed drug. Results are expected ifitstehalf of 2011. The product is intended for threatment of insomnia.

INT0022/2010. An oral film product based on ourietary edible film technology is currently in tfieal stages of optimization. The res
of a phase | pilot study that was conducted in 20itlicate that the product is bioequivalent witle tteference listed drug. The produc
intended for the treatment of bipolar disorder.

INT0024/2010. An oral tablet product based on owpgetary multilayer tablet technology is currgnith the early development stage.
product is intended for the treatment of idiopatidmonary fibrosis.

INT0025/2010. An oral controlled release film pratlibased on our proprietary edible film technolagcurrently in the early developm:
stage. The product is intended for the treatmebeofgn prostatic hyperplasia.

INT0026/2011. An oral film product based on ourgietary edible film technology is currently in tearly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of benign prostatic hyfasia.

The current development status of each of our prsdas of the date of this report is summarizetiénfollowing table:

Product Application Status of Developmen
INTO001/2004 CHF (Coronary Heart Failure), | Pivotal batches in preparation.
Hypertensior

INT0004/2006 Antidepressant NDA filed April, 200®mplete response letter received Q1/2010. Rivota
batches completed at new manufacturing facilityoRil Phase I clinical study
completed and ongoing stability study to suppdiridiof response to complete
response letter Q2, 201

INTO006/200E Prenatal vitamin suppleme Product launched in USA Q4, 20(

INT0010/200€ Neuropathic pait Pilot biostudy completed. Pivotal activities in pagation.

INTO007/2006 Erectile Dysfunction Pilot biostudy completed indicating bioequivalemdth Reference Listed Drug
(RLD).

INT0008/2007 Migraine Pilot biostudy completeditating bioequivalence with RLD. Pivotal activitie
ongoing.

INT0019/200¢ Diarrhea Formulation development ongoir

INT0020/201C Insomnia Formulation development completed. Proof of concéipical study ongoing

INT0022/200¢& Bipolar Disordel Pilot biostudy completed indicating bioequivalemdéh RLD.

INT0024/201C Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosi Formulation development ongoir

INT0025/201C Benign prostatic hyperplas Formulation development ongoir

INT0026/2011 Benign prostatic hyperplas Formulation development ongoir
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Growth Strategy

Our primary growth strategies include: (1) ideritify lifecycle management opportunities for existitdpckbuster’products, (2) developit
generic drugs with high barriers to entry, (3) depéng products for the (nopharmaceutical) nutritional supplement market, &)
developing new drug delivery technologies.

Lifecycle Management Opportunities

We are seeking to position our delivery technolsgie an opportunity for lifecycle management ofdpais for which patent protection of
active ingredient is nearing expiration. While pegent for the underlying substance cannot be detrpatent protection can be obtained
new and improved formulation by filing an applicatiwith the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the UF8deral Food, Drug and Cosmetic ,
Such applications, known as a “505(b)(2) NDAte permitted for new drug products that incorporaieviously approved active ingredie
even if the proposed new drug incorporates an apgractive ingredient in a novel formulation or fonew indication. A 505(b)(2) NDA m
include information regarding safety and efficadyagproposed drug that comes from studies not acheduby or for the applicant. The fi
formulation for a respective active ingredient dilevith the FDA under a 505(b)(2) application mayalify for up to three years of marl
exclusivity upon approval. Based upon a review abtppartnerships between third party drug deliveosynpanies and pharmaceut
companies, management believes that drug delivergpanies which possess innovative technologieseteldp these special dos
formulations present an attractive opportunity teagmaceutical companies. Accordingly, we believes¢hso-called “505(b)(2) products”
represent a viable business opportunity for us.

Generic Drugs with High Barriers to Entry

We will also plan to pursue the development of giendrugs that have certain barriers to entry,,ewhere product development :
manufacturing are complex and can limit the nundfguotential entrants into the generic market. i o pursue such projects only if
number of potential competitors is deemed relagiviesignificant.

Nutritional Supplement Products

We plan to develop additional products for the itiotral supplement market based upon our propsiedang delivery technologies. The mal
for these supplements is large, with little diffetiation between products. Our proprietary techggls aimed at increasing the absorption
of active ingredients. We believe that supplemeefsresent attractive shadrm revenue opportunities since they are not eggdl a
pharmaceutical products and do not require FDA @gdr

Development of New Drug Delivery Technologies

The rapidly disintegrating film technology containen our VersaFilm, and our AdVersa mucosal adlesablet, are two examples of
efforts to develop alternate technology platfords.we work with various partners on different protdy we seek opportunities to develop
proprietary technologies.




Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedas subject to the rapid emergence of new teduie$, governmental regulatio
healthcare legislation, availability of financingatent litigation and other factors. Many of oumgetitors, including Valeant Pharmaceuti
International, Inc. (formerly Biovail Corporation)abopharm Inc., Monosol Rx, Labtec GmbH and Skigarfha PLC, have longer operal
histories and greater financial, technical, marigtilegal and other resources than we have. Intiaddimany of our competitors he
significantly greater experience than we have indewting clinical trials of pharmaceutical prodyotbtaining FDA and other regulat
approvals of products, and marketing and sellingdpcts that have been approved. We expect that Wdevsubject to competition fro
numerous other companies that currently operatgeoplanning to enter the markets in which we cdmpe

The key factors affecting the development and coroiakzation of our drug delivery products are likéo include, among other factors:

e The safety and efficacy of our products;

e The relative speed with which we can develop prtgjuc

e Generic competition for any product that we develop

e Our ability to defend our existing intellectual pesty and to broaden our intellectual property taathnology base;
e Our ability to differentiate our products;

e Our ability to manufacture our products in comptianvith current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGM&hd any other regulatory
requirements; and

e Our ability to obtain financing.

In order to establish ourselves as a viable inglysartner, we plan to continue to invest in ouresrsh and development activities in orde
further strengthen our technology base and to devikle ability to manufacture our products throegh manufacturing partner at competi
costs.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that our key competitive strengths idetu

e Our intellectual property;
e The versatility of our drug delivery technologydan

e The potential manufacturing cost savings associattdour technology.
Manufacturing Partnership

We manufacture products only for testing purposesur own laboratories, and we do not manufactuoglycts for clinical trials or fc
commercial use.

We formed a strategic alliance with LTS Lohmann reipgeSysteme AG ("LTS") for the exclusive manufacturofgoroducts developed by
using our VersaFilm drug delivery technology. LTSregarded as a pioneer in the development andugtiod of transdermal and fil
form/wafer oral systems and has become one of tbedis leading suppliers for the international phaceutical industry. VersaFilm
IntelGenx' immediate release wafer technologys Itomprised of a thin polymeric film using Unitetht®s Pharmacopeia (USP) compon
that are safe and approved by the FDA for use adl fpharmaceutical and cosmetic products. Versapitmides a patergrotected method
re-formulating approved pharmaceuticals in a morevenient and discrete oral dosage form.

We formed a strategic manufacturing partnershifpwand took an ownership position in, Pillar5 Phadmc. (“Pillar5”). We have undertak:
to use our best efforts to ensure that distribubbrsur oral solid dose pharmaceutical products @@ developed for commercial production
directed to Pillar5 for the purpose of negotiattnmanufacturing agreement requiring Pillar5 to nfiacture such products. As consideratior
this undertaking, Pillar5 issued to us common shaepresenting 10% of the issued and outstandiageshof Pillar5.This manufacturi
partnership secures the production of clinical besthes and commercial products for our VersafabfalVersa tablet products.
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We are not a manufacturer and we do not usuallghase large quantities of raw materials. Our manufang partners, however,
purchase significant quantities of raw materialsme of which may have long lead times. If raw matsrcannot be supplied to «
manufacturing partners in a timely and cost efiecthanner, our manufacturing partners may expegieletays in production that may lea
reduced supplies of commercial products being alukdlfor sale or distribution. Such shortages ctwalde a detrimental effect on sales of
products and a corresponding reduction on our tpyalenues earned.

Dependence on Major Customers

We do not rely on any one or a few major custonfi@r®ur end products. However, we depend upon @ddmumber of partners to deve
our products, to provide funding for the developim&our products, and to assist in obtaining ratprly approvals that are required in orde
commercialize these products.

Intellectual Property and Patent Protection

We protect our intellectual property and technolbgyusing the following methods: (i) applying faatpnt protection in the United States ar
the appropriate foreign markets, (ii) ndisclosure agreements, license agreements andpgteocontractual restrictions and controls or
distribution of information, and (iii) trade sesetommon law trademark rights and trademark negishs. We plan to file core technolc
patents covering the use of our platform techn@®d@i any pharmaceutical products.

We have obtained four (4) patents and have aniadditseven (7) pending patent applications, asriesd below. The patents expire 20 yi
after submission of the initial application.

Patent No. Title Subject Date submitted / issuec
US 6,231,957 Rapidly disintegrating flavor wafer for | The composition, manufacturing, and | Issued May 15, 2001
flavor enrichment use of rapidly disintegrating flavored
films for releasing flavors to certain
substrate:
US 6,660,292 Rapidly disintegrating film for Composition and manufacturing of Issued December 9, 200
precooked foods flavored films for releasing flavors to
precooked food substrat
US 7,132,113 Flavored film Composition and manufacturing methq Issued April 16, 2002
of multi-layered films
US Appl. 2007/0190144 Multilayer Tablet Formutatiand Method of Preparation Published August 16,
of Multilayered Tablet: 2007

US Appl. 2007/0128272 | Multi-Vitamin And Mineral Supplemen| Formulation and Method of Preparatio| Published June 7, 2007
of Prenatal Multivitamin Suppleme

US Appl. 2006/012747 | Oral dosage formulatio Multilayer oral dosage form Published June 15, 20l
US Appl. 11/782,838 Controlled Release Pharmaceutical Formulation and Method Of Making | July 25, 2006
PCT/IB2007/03950 Tablets Tablets Containing Bupropion And

Mecamylamine
US Patent 7674479 Sustained-release Bupropion and | Formulation and Method Of Making Issued March 9, 2010

Bupropion / Mecamylamine tablets Tablets Containing Bupropion And
Mecamylamine

US Appl. 12/836810 Oral Mucoadhesive dosage form Direct compression formulation for July 15, 2010
buccal and sublingual dosage for

US Appl. US 12/936.132| Oral film dosage forms amethods for | Optimization of Film strip technology December2810

making samt
US Provisional Appl. US | Methods for making improved solid ory Oral films containing Tadalafil April 26, 2010
61/32796¢ dosage forms comprising Tadale




Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatede Finoducts we participate in developing requirdaderregulatory approvals. In the Uni
States, drugs are subject to rigorous regulatiothby=DA. The U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmpgtic and other federal and state stal
and regulations, govern, among other things, tisearch, development, testing, manufacture, stonagerd keeping, packaging, labeli
adverse event reporting, advertising, promotiontketing, distribution, and import and export of phaceutical products. Failure to com
with applicable regulatory requirements may subgecompany to a variety of administrative or judigi-imposed sanctions and/or the inab
to obtain or maintain required approvals or to readkeugs. The steps ordinarily required beforeva plarmaceutical product may be mark:
in the United States include:

e preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies anmdhidation studies under FDA'’s good laboratory pias regulations, or GLPs;

e the submission to the FDA of an investigational g application, or IND, which must become effezbefore human clinical trials
may begin;

¢ the completion of adequate and well-controlledichihtrials according to good clinical practice uégions, or GCPs, to establish the
safety and efficacy of the product for each indarafor which approval is sought;

o after successful completion of the required clihieating, submission to the FDA of a New Drug Apation, or NDA, or an
Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, for gaiedrugs. In certain cases, an application forkating approval may include
information regarding safety and efficacy of a pegd drug that comes from studies not conducteat fyr the applicant. Such
applications, known as a 505(b)(2) NDA, are perdittor new drug products that incorporate previpagiproved active ingredients,
even if the proposed new drug incorporates an aggractive ingredient in a novel formulation or éonew indication;

e satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thanufacturing facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is produced to assess
compliance with cGMPs to assure that the facilit,eethods and controls are adequate to presendrilyés identity, strength, quality
and purity; and

e FDA review and approval of the NDA or ANDA.
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The cost of complying with the foregoing requirentseincluding preparing and submitting an NDA or BA, may be substantial.

Accordingly, we typically rely upon our partnerstime pharmaceutical industry to spearhead and theatosts of the FDA approval proci
We also seek to mitigate regulatory costs by fawysin 505(b)(2) NDA opportunities. By applying alnug delivery technology to existi
drugs, we seek to develop products with lower nete& development (“R&D”) expenses and shorter titoenarket timelines as comparec
regular NDA products.

Research and Development Expense

Our R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, for theay ended December 31, 2010 increased to $1,5&Bdhd as compared to $1,.
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2009. ifitrease in R&D expenditure is explained in thetisacof this report entitle
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations”.

Environmental Regulatory Compliance

We believe that we are in compliance with environtakregulations applicable to our research anctldgwment facility located in Ville Saint-
Laurent, Quebec.

Employees

As of the date of this filing, we have 10 full-tineand no partime employees. None of our employees are coveyedobective bargainin
agreements. We believe that our relations withemaployees are good.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our common stock involves sigmificisks. You should carefully consider the follugvrisks and all other information ¢
forth in this report before deciding to invest imases of our common stock. If any of the eventdeselopments described below occurs,
business, financial condition and results of opiersd may suffer. In that case, the value of ourmoom stock may decline and you could los
or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
We continue to sustain losses and our revenues aret sufficient to sustain our operations.

Even though we ceased being a “development stegiepany in April 2006, we are still subject to aflthe risks associated with havin
limited operating history and pursuing the develepimof new products. Our cash flows may be insigfficto meet expenses relating to
operations and the development of our businessiraydbe insufficient to allow us to develop newdurcts. We currently conduct research
development using our proprietary platform techg@e to develop oral controlled release and ottedivelry products. We do not kn
whether we will be successful in the developmerguwh products. We have an accumulated deficippfaximately $9,761 thousand since
inception in 2003 through December 31, 2010. Te déiese losses have been financed principallyugireales of equity securities, lotegr
debt and debt from related parties. Our revenuethéoyears ended December 31, 2010, Decembe0B9, Pecember 31, 2008, Decembe
2007, December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005 andnilre31, 2004 were $1,337 thousand, $1,279 thou§&7d thousand, $863 thouse
$266 thousand, $20 thousand and $257 thousandcteghe Our revenues in 2010 consisted primarflylevelopment fee revenues, incluc
non-refundable upfront license fees, from threent8, royalty income earned from commercializatibthe first product fullydeveloped by tt
Company, a prenatal multivitamin supplement maikete Gesticare@ the USA, which was commercialized in Novembe®&0and othe
income related to the writeack of previously accrued liabilities. Revenuegrated to date has not been sufficient to sustairoperations. |
order to achieve profitability, our revenue streamilshave to increase and there is no assuraraterdvenues will increase to such a level.

We may incur losses associated with foreign curregdluctuations.

The majority of our expenses are paid in Canad@lad, while a significant portion of our revenus® in U.S. dollars. Our financial resi
are subject to the impact of currency exchangefhat¢uations. Adverse movements in exchange redetd have a material adverse effec
our financial condition and results of operations.

We may need additional capital to fulfill our business strategies. We may also incur unforeseen codtailure to obtain such capita
would adversely affect our business.

We will need to expend significant capital in ordercontinue with our research and development ibyndh additional research staff ¢
acquiring additional equipment. If our cash flowsn operations are insufficient to fund our expdatapital needs, or our needs are gr
than anticipated, we may be required to raise mddit funds in the future through private or puldades of equity securities or the incurrenc
additional indebtedness. Additional funding may betavailable on favorable terms, or at all. If begrow additional funds, we likely will |
obligated to make periodic interest or other devise payments and may be subject to additiorsitictive covenants. If we fail to obt:
sufficient additional capital in the future, we tibe forced to curtail our growth strategy by reidg or delaying capital expenditures, sel
assets or downsizing or restructuring our operatidihwe raise additional funds through public oivate sales of equity securities, the s



may be at prices below the market price of ourkstow our shareholders may suffer significant aitut

11



The loss of the services of key personnel would ashgely affect our business

Our future success depends to a significant degmethe skills, experience and efforts of our exieubfficers and senior management s
The loss of the services of existing personneltipdarly Horst Zerbe, our Chairman of the Boardl ahief Executive Officer, would |
detrimental to our research and development progrand to our overall business. We carry kegn life insurance for Mr. Zerbe w
insurance coverage of 1 million dollars.

We are dependent on business partners to conductrkal trials of, obtain regulatory approvals for, and manufacture, market, and se
our controlled release products.

We depend heavily on our pharmaceutical partnepayofor part or all of the research and developgre&penses associated with developi
new product and to obtain approval from regulatmogies such as the U.S. Food and Drug Administidtioe “FDA”) to commercialize the
products. We also depend on our partners to dig&rithese products after receiving regulatory apgdroOur revenues from research
development fees, milestone payments and royadiy #&e provided by our partners. Our inability itad fpharmaceutical partners who
willing to pay us these fees in order to develow peoducts would negatively impact our business @ndcash flows.

We have limited experience in manufacturing, manketind selling pharmaceutical products. Accordinglwe cannot maintain our existi
partnerships or establish new partnerships witheetsto our other products in development, we hélle to establish our own capabilitie!
discontinue the commercialization of the affecteddpct. Developing our own capabilities would b@exsive and time consuming and c«
delay the commercialization of the affected produibiere can be no assurance that we would be @blevielop these capabilities.

Our existing agreements with pharmaceutical ingusairtners are generally subject to terminatiorihgycounterparty on short notice upon
occurrence of certain circumstances, including,rmitlimited to, the following: a determination tithe product in development is not likely
be successfully developed or not likely to receiegulatory approval; our failure to satisfy our ightions under the agreement, or
occurrence of a bankruptcy event. If any of outtrpenships are terminated, we may be required totéeadditional resources to the prod
seek a new partner on short notice, or abandoprttiuct development efforts. The terms of any @olulitl partnerships or other arrangem
that we establish may not be favorable to us.

We are also at risk that these partnerships or @hlrangements may not be successful. Factorsrtagtaffect the success of our partners
include the following:

e Our partners may incur financial and cash-flowidiffties that force them to limit or reduce the@rficipation in our joint projects;

e Our partners may be pursuing alternative technekgr developing alternative products that are eitiye to our product, either on
their own or in partnership with others;

e Our partners may reduce marketing or sales effortdiscontinue marketing or sales of our produstich may reduce our revenues
received on the products;

e Our partners may terminate their partnerships withThis could make it difficult for us to attraww partners or adversely affect
perception of us in the business and financial canities;

e Our partners may pursue higher priority programshange the focus of their development programg;iwtould affect the partner’s
commitment to us. Pharmaceutical and biotechnotmggpanies historically have re-evaluated theirriiés from time to time,
including following mergers and consolidations,canenon occurrence in recent years; and

e Our partners may become the target of litigatiarpliarported patent or intellectual property infemgent, which could delay or prohibit
commercialization of our products and which wowduce our revenue from such products.

We face competition in our industry, and many of oucompetitors have substantially greater experiencand resources than we do.

We compete with other companies within the drugiveey industry, many of which have more capital, ren@xtensive research ¢
development capabilities and greater human ressut@an we do. Some of these drug delivery compstitclude Valeant Pharmaceutic
International, Inc. (formerly Biovail Corporation)abopharm Inc., Monosol Rx, Labtec GmbH and Skiiarfa PLC. Our competitors
develop new or enhanced products or processestinabe more effective, less expensive, safer oemeadily available than any product:
processes that we develop, or they may developriptapy positions that prevent us from being aldesticcessfully commercialize n
products or processes that we develop. As a remuitproducts or processes may not compete sucdgssind research and developmen
others may render our products or processes obsofetineconomical. Competition may increase asntdolical advances are made
commercial applications broaden.
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We are dependent upon sales outside the United S¢at which are subject to a number of risks
Our future results of operations could be harmedsks inherent in doing business in internatianarkets, including:

e Unforeseen changes in regulatory requirements;
e Weaker intellectual property rights protection émse countries;
e New export license requirements, changes in taviffsade restrictions; and

e Political and economic instability in our targetnkets.
We rely upon third-party manufacturers, which puts us at risk for supplier business interruptions.

We have entered into agreements with third partyufacturers to manufacture certain of our prodootse we complete development and i
we receive regulatory approval. If our thipdsty manufacturers fail to perform, our abilityrt@rket products and to generate revenue wot
adversely affected. Our failure to deliver produaots timely manner could lead to the dissatistactf our distribution partners and dam
our reputation, causing our distribution partnersancel existing agreements with us and to stapgdausiness with us.

The thirdparty manufacturers that we depend on to manufactur products are required to adhere to FDA reiguia regarding cGMP, whi
include testing, control and documentation requéerts. Ongoing compliance with cGMP and other regwarequirements is monitored
periodic inspection by the FDA and comparable aggsnio other countries. Failure by our thjperty manufacturers to comply with cGMP
other regulatory requirements could result in adiagainst them by regulatory agencies and jegmamiir ability to obtain products ol
timely basis.

We are subject to extensive government regulatiom¢luding the requirement of approval before our pralucts may be marketed. Even
we obtain marketing approval, our products will besubject to ongoing regulatory review.

We, our partners, our products, and our productlicaes are subject to extensive regulation by gowental authorities in the United Stz
and other countries. Failure to comply with ap@learequirements could result in warning letterse$ and other civil penalties, delay:
approving or refusal to approve a product candjdaeduct recall or seizure, withdrawal of prodapprovals, interruption of manufacturing
clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunct&rand criminal prosecution.

Our products cannot be marketed in the United Staiehout FDA approval. Obtaining FDA approval reéqe substantial time, effort, a
financial resources, and there can be no assuthatany approval will be granted on a timely basiat all. We rely on our partners for
preparation of applications and for obtaining regody approvals. If the FDA does not approve owrdprct candidates in a timely fashion
does not approve them at all, our business andidiabcondition may be adversely affected. Furtliee, terms of approval of any market
application, including the labeling content, mayrbere restrictive than we desire and could affeetrharketability of our or our collaborat:
products. Subsequent discovery of problems witrapproved product may result in restrictions on pheduct or its withdrawal from tl
market. In addition, both before and after regulat@pproval, we, our collaborators, our products] aur product candidates are subje:
numerous FDA requirements covering testing, manufa, quality control, cGMP, adverse event rejmgytlabeling, advertising, promotic
distribution, and export. Our partners and we algext to surveillance and periodic inspectionagoertain compliance with these regulati
Further, the relevant law and regulations may changvays that could affect us, our partners, gadpcts, and our product candidates. Fa
to comply with regulatory requirements could haveaterial adverse impact on our business.

Regulations regarding the manufacture and saleuoffuture products are subject to change. We capredict what impact, if any, su
changes may have on our business, financial conditi results of operations. Failure to comply vétiplicable regulatory requirements cc
have a material adverse effect on our businessndial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the time required for obtaining regtdry approval is uncertain. We may encounter delaty product rejections based u
changes in FDA policies, including cGMP, duringipds of product development. We may encounter aintelays in countries outside of
United States. We may not be able to obtain thegelatory acceptances on a timely basis, or at all.
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The failure to obtain timely regulatory acceptant®ur products, any product marketing limitations any product withdrawals would hav
material adverse effect on our business, finarmaldition and results of operations. In additioefdoe it grants approvals, the FDA or
foreign regulatory authority may impose numerouseotrequirements with which we must comply. Regudatacceptance, if granted, n
include significant limitations on the indicatedeasfor which the product may be marketed. FDA agorent policy strictly prohibits tl
marketing of accepted products for unapproved BEsluct acceptance could be withdrawn or civilandriminal sanctions could be impo:
for our failure to comply with regulatory standamdsthe occurrence of unforeseen problems follovitiriial marketing.

We may not be able to expand or enhance our existirproduct lines with new products limiting our ability to grow.

If we are not successful in the development andhiction of new products, our ability to grow wile impeded. We may not be abl
identify products to enhance or expand our protines. Even if we can identify potential produasy investment in research and developi
might be significant before we could bring the prod to market. Moreover, even if we identify aguiial product and expend signific
dollars on development, we may never be able tighihie product to market or achieve market acceptéor such product. As a result, we 1
never recover our expenses.

The market may not be receptive to products incorprating our drug delivery technologies.

The commercial success of any of our productsdnatapproved for marketing by the FDA and otheulagry authorities will depend up
their acceptance by the medical community and tpéndy payers as clinically useful, cadfective and safe. To date, only one product
upon our technologies has been marketed in theetd§tates, which limits our ability to provide gaite or assurance as to market accept

Factors that we believe could materially affect ketacceptance of these products include:

¢ the timing of the receipt of marketing approvals &éme countries in which such approvals are obthine
o the safety and efficacy of the product as comptrempetitive products;

o the relative convenience and ease of administrasocompared to competitive products;

e the strength of marketing distribution support; and

o the cost-effectiveness of the product and thetghidi receive third party reimbursement.
We are subject to environmental regulations and anyailure to comply may result in substantial finesand sanctions.

Our operations are subject to Canadian and inferre@tenvironmental laws and regulations governemgong other things, emissions to
discharges to waters and the generation, handdtogage, transportation, treatment and disposahwfmaterials, waste and other mater
Many of these laws and regulations provide for uft&l fines and criminal sanctions for violatioh§e believe that we are and have t
operating our business and facility in a mannet ¢oanplies in all material respects with environtaérhealth and safety laws and regulati
however, we may incur material costs or liabilitiege fail to operate in full compliance. We dotnmaintain environmental damage insure
coverage with respect to the products which we rfzaure.

We may have to make significant expenditures inftihere to comply with evolving environmental, hibahnd safety requirements, includ
new requirements that may be adopted or imposéheirfuture. To meet changing licensing and regwyastandards, we may have to m
significant additional site or operational modificas that could involve substantial expendituresemluction or suspension of some of
operations. We cannot be certain that we haveiftahall environmental and health and safety nrattdfecting our activities and in the fut
our environmental, health and safety problems,thadtosts to remediate them, may be materiallytgrelaan we expect.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are not able to adequately protect our intekctual property, we may not be able to compete effavely.

Our success depends, to a significant degree, thgoprotection of our proprietary technologies. Whve currently own four U.S. patents .
have applied for seven U.S. patents, we will n@epgursue additional protection for our intellectpabperty as we develop new products
enhance existing products. We may not be able taimlappropriate protection for our intellectuabperty in a timely manner, or at all. (
inability to obtain appropriate protections for antellectual property may allow competitors toembur markets and produce or sell the ¢
or similar products.
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If we are forced to resort to legal proceedingsrorce our intellectual property rights, the prexiegs could be burdensome and expensiy
addition, our proprietary rights could be at riske are unsuccessful in, or cannot afford to persoiose proceedings.

We also rely on trade secrets and contract lawdtept some of our proprietary technology. We hentered into confidentiality and invent
agreements with our employees and consultants. iieless, these agreements may not be honorechagdtay not effectively protect c
right to our un-patented trade secrets and khow: Moreover, others may independently developssutiially equivalent propriete
information and techniques or otherwise gain actessir trade secrets and know-how.

In 1995, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office astbphanges to the U.S. patent law that made the ¢aéissued patents 20 years from
date of filing rather than 17 years from the daftéssuance, subject to specified transition periddsginning in June 1995, the patent t
became 20 years from the earliest effective filitege of the underlying patent application. Thesangles may reduce the effective terr
protection for patents that are pending for moenttihree years. While we cannot predict the effeattthese changes will have on our busil
they could have a material adverse effect on oilityato protect our proprietary information. Fugtmore, the possibility of extensive delay
the patent issuance process could effectively redhe term during which a marketed product is ptet by patents.

We may need to obtain licenses to patents or @itugrietary rights from third parties. We may netdble to obtain the licenses required u
any patents or proprietary rights or they may notalailable on acceptable terms. If we do not abtaguired licenses, we may encou
delays in product development or find that the tgw@ent, manufacture or sale of products requitiognses could be foreclosed. We n
from time to time, support and collaborate in resea@onducted by universities and governmentalareseorganizations. We may not be ab
acquire exclusive rights to the inventions or técahinformation derived from these collaboratioasid disputes may arise over right
derivative or related research programs conducgagstor our collaborators.

If we infringe on the rights of third parties, we may not be able to sell our products, and we may hawto defend against litigation an
pay damages.

If a competitor were to assert that our productdrige on its patent or other intellectual propetights, we could incur substantial litigat
costs and be forced to pay substantial damages. IBigation costs could be as a result of dirdigdtion against us, or as a result of litiga
against one or more of our partners to whom we lcameractually agreed to indemnify in the event thar intellectual property is the caust

a successful litigious action against our partrirird-party infringement claims, regardless of their oute, would not only consur
significant financial resources, but would alsoedtvour managemerst'time and attention. Such claims could also cawsecustomers
potential customers to purchase competitprgducts or defer or limit their purchase or useoof affected products until resolution of
claim. If any of our products are found to violéhed-party intellectual property rights, we maywbao reengineer one or more of our produ
or we may have to obtain licenses from third partie continue offering our products without substdrre-engineering. Our efforts to re-
engineer or obtain licenses could require signifiexpenditures and may not be successful.

Our controlled release products that are generic wsions of branded controlled release products thatre covered by one or mor
patents may be subject to litigation, which could dlay FDA approval and commercial launch of our prodicts.

We expect to file or have our collaborators filebiviated New Drug Applications or New Drug Applicas (ANDAs or NDAs) for ot
controlled release products under developmentateatovered by one or more patents of the brandetupt. It is likely that the owners of 1
patents covering the brand name product or the ssperof the NDA with respect to the branded prodmitit sue or undertake regulatc
initiatives to preserve marketing exclusivity. Asignificant delay in obtaining FDA approval to merlour products as a result of litigation
well as the expense of such litigation, whethenotr we or our collaborators are successful, coadeha materially adverse effect on
business, financial condition and results of openat

Risks Related to Our Securities:

The price of our common stock could be subject tagnificant fluctuations. Any of the following factors could affect the matlgice of ou
common stock:

e Our failure to achieve and maintain profitability;

e Changes in earnings estimates and recommendatydinsalncial analysts;
e Actual or anticipated variations in our quartemgults of operations;

e Changes in market valuations of similar companies;

e Announcements by us or our competitors of significntracts, new products, acquisitions, commerelationships, joint ventures or
capital commitments;

e The loss of major customers or product or composeppliers;
e The loss of significant partnering relationshipsd a

e General market, political and economic conditions.
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We have a significant number of convertible se@sgibutstanding that could be exercised in theréut8ubsequent resale of these and
shares could cause the Compangtock price to decline. This could also make arendifficult to raise funds at acceptable leveaks future
securities offerings.

We have a concentration of stock ownership and coml, and a small number of stockholders have the ality to exert significant control
in matters requiring stockholder vote and may haventerests that conflict with yours.

Directors and others hold 28.7% of our common st&sde “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @nand Managemenifi our proxy
statement in connection with our 2011 annual mgetinstockholders, which proxy statement will dediwith the SEC not later than 120 d
after the close of our fiscal year ended Decemlgr2810. As a result, such stockholders, actingttugy, may have the ability to con
matters requiring stockholder approval, includihg election of directors and approval of mergeis @ther significant corporate transactic
This concentration of ownership may have the eftéctlelaying, preventing or deterring a change ontmwl of our company. It may al
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to reeei premium for their shares as part of a samiotompany and may affect the market ¢
of our common stock. In deciding how to vote onrsomatters, those stockholders’ interests may atnlith yours.

Directors’ Independency

Currently, we have a majority of independent dmest but in the future we cannot guarantee thatBmard of Directors will always have
majority of independent directors. In the absenta majority of independent directors, our chiekeutive officer, who is also a princi
stockholder and director, could establish policdes enter into transactions without independenievexand approval. This could present
potential for a conflict of interest between then@pany and its stockholders generally and the cbimgoofficers, stockholders or directors.

Our common stock is a high risk investment.

Our common stock has been quoted on the OTC Bulkxiard under the symbol “IGXT8ince January 2007 and has been listed on the
Venture Exchange under the symbol “IGX” since M&@Q&.

There is a limited trading market for our commauwckt which may affect the ability of shareholdersséll our common stock and the price
which they may be able to sell our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has been l@la@nd fluctuates widely in response to varicagtdrs which are beyond our control.
price of our common stock is not necessarily intieaof our operating performance or long term hasg prospects. In addition, the secul
markets have from time to time experienced sigaifticprice and volume fluctuations that are unrelate the operating performance
particular companies. These market fluctuations elag materially and adversely affect the markitepof our common stock.

In the United States, our common stock is constlargpenny stock”.. The SEC has adopted regulatidnish generally define a “penny stock”
to be an equity security that has a market prickesd than $5.00 per share or an exercise pritessfthan $5.00 per share, subject to sp
exemptions. This designation requires any brokedealer selling these securities to disclose aeit€formation concerning the transact
obtain a written agreement from the purchaser aterohine that the purchaser is reasonably suitalperchase the securities. These rules
restrict the ability of brokers or dealers to self common stock and may affect the ability of stees to sell their shares.

As a result of the foregoing, our common stock sthde considered a high risk investment.

We became public by means of a reverse merger, ad a result we are subject to the risks associatedth the prior activities of the
public company with which we merged. In addition, ve may not be able to attract the attention of majoibrokerage firms or institutional
buyers.

Additional risks may exist because we became pubiimugh a "reverse merger" with a shell corporatidithough the shell did not have rec
or past operations or assets and we performed alitigence review of the public company, there t@nno assurance that we will not
exposed to undisclosed liabilities resulting frdra prior operations of our company.
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Security analysts of major brokerage firms and sges institutions may not cover us since therme o brokerdealers who sold our stock i
public offering who would have an incentive to &l or recommend the purchase of our common stockadsurance can be given
established brokerage firms will want to condugt inancings for us in the future.

Our limited cash resources restrict our ability topay cash dividends.

Since our inception, we have not paid any cashddivils on our common stock. We currently intencetain future earnings, if any, to supj
operations and to finance the growth and developrokour business. Therefore, we do not expectay gash dividends in the foresee:
future. Any future determination relating to ouwidend policy will be made at the discretion of ®woard of Directors and will depend o
number of factors, including future earnings, capiequirements, financial conditions and futurespect and other factors that the Boat
Directors may deem relevant. If we do not pay aimjdénds on our common stock, our stockholders kéllable to profit from an investm
only if the price of the stock appreciates befdwe dtockholder sells it. Investors seeking castdeinds should not purchase our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently occupy 3,100 square feet of leasedespa a rate of CDN$8.64/square foot in an indaisone in Ville Stkaurent, Quebe
Canada under a five year renewable lease agreesiggred in 2004. We extended the term of the legseement to August 31, 2011 un
similar financial conditions, with the option tort@nate at any time after February 28, 2011, predidve give four monthshotice. Wi
expanded our laboratory and office space at thigitiato its maximum during the second quarter2®06. In order to continue to supg
ongoing product development activities and allow #ddition of further development programs we migatrequired to seek a differ
location in 2011. Management has started the sdarditernative, or additional, facilities that uld meet our short to medium requiremen
affordable rates.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In June of 2009, we announced that our New Drugliéation filing for our antidepressant CB00 had been accepted by the FDA for star
review. CPI-300 is a higher strength of the antidepant bupropion HCI, the active ingredient in Migtin XL®.

As required under NDA filings, our former developmepartner Cary Pharmaceuticals (“Carythe NDA applicant, notified Biove
Laboratories SLR (“Biovail”), holder of the Wellbirt XL® patent, of the filing contending non-infgement of the Wellbutrin XL&atent. O
August 18, 2009, we learned that Cary was namedauvsuit filed by Biovail in the U.S. District Cdufor the District of Delaware (the Cot
for patent infringement under the provisions of Breig Price Competition and Patent Term Restorafionof 1984 with respect to Biovai
U.S. Patent No. 6,096,341 for Wellbutrin XL®he filing of the patent infringement lawsuit irngted an automatic stay of any FDA approvi
the NDA until the earlier of a judgment or January012.

On May 7, 2010 we executed a Project Transfer Agesg (the “Agreement™vith Cary, whereby Cary assigned its 50% ownerstée ir
CPI-300 to us. Pursuant to the Agreement, IntelGamk Cary (collectively, the “Partiesggreed to terminate the Collaborative Agreel
entered into in November 2007 and Cary further edyi® transfer and assign the G380 project to us. In addition, Cary assigned tall
rights and interest in the regulatory approvald @ary had or may have had, including the NDA, amdassumed responsibility for the c
associated therewith. We obtained full and comphaséhority with respect to the prosecution and/oreadment of the NDA and t
commercialization of the product and/or the tecbggl encompassed in the CB0O project. We also assumed all obligations taj
responsibility for, the Biovail litigation, includg the costs thereof. On October 19, 2010, the tCgnamted a motion to substitute us
defendant and counter plaintiff in place of Cary.

On January 4, 2011 we learned that the Court hiad in our favor regarding claim construction fbettwo patent terms at issue in the ac
brought forward by Biovail. The ruling arises frarspecial proceeding required under U.S. patentkdied a "Markman Hearing", where b
sides present to the court their arguments on hew believe the patent terms at issue should leepirgted.

Subsequent to the ruling on the Markman Hearingiebruary 3, 2011, we announced that the UniteteStaistrict Court of Delaware h
dismissed the lawsuit against us.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

17




PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT' S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted on the OTC Bulgbiard under the symbol “IGXTSince January 2007. In addition, our common ¢
has been listed on the TSX Venture Exchange umesymbol “IGX”since May 2008. The table below sets forth the laigtl low bid price
of our common stock as reported by the OTC Bull&mard and the TSX for the periods indicated. Thpsees represent inteleale
guotations without retail markup, markdown, or coission and may not necessarily represent actussacions.

OTCBB TSX-V
High Low High Low
(U.S.$) (U.S.9$) (CAD$) (CAD$)

2010

Fourth Quarte $ 0.4¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.27
Third Quartel $ 05z $ 0.2¢ $ 05C $ 0.3¢
Second Quarte $ 05z $ 04C $ 05: $ 0.42
First Quarte! $ 06z $ 04z $ 0.6t $ 0.42¢
2009

Fourth Quarte $ 071 $ 05z $ 0.7C $ 0.57
Third Quartel $ 0.7¢C $ 05C $ 07/ $ 0.51
Second Quarte $ 0.6C $ 0.2¢ $ 06z $ 0.37
First Quarte! $ 0.6 $ 02t $ 0.7t $ 0.4C
2008

Fourth Quarte $ 0.9t % 03C $ 09C $ 0.5C
Third Quartel $ 0.9t $ 067 $ 1.0¢ $ 0.8t
Second Quarte $ 1.01 $ 08 $ 1.0C $ 0.8(
First Quartel $ 1.0z % 051 % N/A $ N/A

Number of Shareholders

On March 7, 2011 there were approximately 81 hald#rrecord of our common shares, one of which ®@ade & Co., a hominee 1
Depository Trust Company, and one of which was Theadian Depository for Securities Limited, or CB8.of our common shares held
brokerage firms, banks and other financial instiug in the United States and Canada as nominedsef@ficial owners are considered tc
held of record by Cede & Co. in respect of brokerfigns, banks and other financial institutionghe United States, and by CDS in respe
brokerage firms, banks and other financial indting located in Canada. Cede & Co. and CDS are eaasidered to be one shareholde
record.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsuo common stock. We currently intend to retaig aarnings to support operations
to finance the growth and development of our bissn&herefore, we do not expect to pay cash didslém the foreseeable future. Any fut
determination relating to our dividend policy wile made at the discretion of our Board of Directord will depend on a number of fact
including future earnings, capital requirementsaficial conditions and future prospect and othetofa that the board of directors may d
relevant.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
2006 Stock Option Plan

A majority of our shareholders approved the 200&SOption Plan at our Annual General Meeting afcBholders held on August 10, 20
Under the 2006 Stock Option Plan, up to 1,600, #res of common stock may be issued upon the eeeofioptions granted to directc
management, employees and consultants.

In May of 2008, the term of all options granted enthe 2006 Stock Option Plan was amended to pedada term not to exceed five years
order to ensure compliance with applicable ruled mgulation of the TSX Venture Exchange.

At the Annual General Meeting of Stockholders opt8&mber 8, 2008, our shareholders approved an anmartdo the 2006 Stock Option P
in order to increase the number of shares availatdier the plan by 473,251, to 2,074,000.

At the Annual General Meeting of Stockholders onel3, 2010, our shareholders approved an amendméiné 2006 Stock Option Plan

order to increase the number of shares availaldenthe plan by 1,234,127 to 3,308,127.
As of December 31, 2010, 222,571 options have bgercised.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2010

Number of Weighted- Number of
Securities securities
to be issued upon Average remaining
available
exercise o Exercise Price c for future issuanc
outstanding outstanding under equity
options,
warrants ant options, compensatiol
rights plans
warrants ant (excluding
rights securities
reflected in the
first
column)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security s 1,698,08: $ 0.5¢ 1,387,46!
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Secudityders None None None
Total 1,698,081 $ 0.5¢ 1,387,46i

On September 26, 2006, we granted options to paecBa5,000 shares of common stock to threeamoployee directors. These options t
an exercise price of $0.41, vest upon issuanceeapile on September 26, 2016. The expiration date subsequently amended to Septe
26, 2011.

On October 1, 2006, we granted options to purchas® 69,000 shares of common stock to a consulfdm@se options have an exercise |
of $0.41, vest upon issuance, and expire on Octbp2016. The expiration date was subsequently deteto September 26, 2011.

On November 9, 2006, we granted options to purchast® 450,000 shares of common stock to the CEDaamanagement employee. Tt
options have an exercise price of $0.41, vest uggumance, and expire on November 9, 2016. The atiqgnir date was subsequently amend:
September 26, 2011.

On November 13, 2006, we granted options to puecliasto 250,000 shares of common stock to a cargulfhese options have an exet
price of $0.41, vest over two years at the rat2586 every six months, and expire on November 1362The expiration date was subseque
amended to September 26, 2011.

On November 16, 2006, we granted options to puehasto 100,000 shares of common stock to emplogee<5,000 options to a consult
These options have an exercise price of $0.41, axest 2 years at the rate of 25% every six mordhs, expire on November 16, 2016.
expiration date was subsequently amended to Septe2éh 2011.
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On August 9, 2007, we granted options to purchas® 07,500 shares of common stock to four eaoployee directors. These options |
an exercise price of $1.15, vest upon issuanceegpide on August 9, 2017. The expiration date stdssequently amended to August 9, 2012.

On August 9, 2007, we granted options to purchgsetou75,000 shares of common stock to our formereViPresident of Busine
Development. These options have an exercise pfidd.45, vest over 2 years at the rate of 25% egerynonths, and expire on Augus
2017. The expiration date was subsequently ametwd@dgust 9, 2012. The contract for the Businesgdlmment Consultant was termine
in November, 2010 and the options granted expindeebruary, 2011.

On August 9, 2007, we granted options to purchgs® 5,000 shares of common stock to our forméfdmancial officer. These optio
have an exercise price of $1.15, vest over 2 yahtise rate of 25% every six months, and expiréogust 9, 2017. The expiration date
subsequently amended to August 9, 2012. As thdtrefsthe termination of the employment agreemeithwur chief financial officer, optiol
to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock expireekarcised in November of 2008.

On May 22, 2008, we granted options to purchaseoUl,176 shares of common stock to two of our employee directors. These opti
have an exercise price of $0.85, vest immediateig, expire on May 22, 2013.

On May 29, 2008, we granted options to purchast #®0,000 shares of common stock to Auctus Cajpitebnsideration for investor relati
services. The option grant was subject to sharehalgproval to increase the number of shares iedoed under the 2006 Stock Option F
The shareholders approved to increase the numisranés by 473,251, to 2,074,000 at the Annual GéMeeting on September 8, 2008. "
options granted to Auctus Capital have an exenuiige of $1.00, and vest based on a combinaticthefichievement of certain performa
conditions and the passage of time. As a resutetermination of the agreement, all options techase common stock expired exercise
in May of 2009.

On September 8, 2008, we granted options to puechpdo 75,000 shares of common stock to aeraployee director of the company. TF
options have an exercise price of $0.85, vest iniatel¢, and expire on September 8, 2013.

On September 8, 2008, we granted options to puechpgo 100,000 shares of common stock to our ¢mahcial officer. These options he
an exercise price of $0.85, vest over 2 yearseatate of 25% every six months, and expire on Seipte 8, 2013.

On March 11, 2009, we granted options to purchas® 25,000 shares of common stock to an emplofgiseccompany. The options have
exercise price of $0.31, vest over 2 years atateeaf 25% every six months, and expire on March2014.

On October 3, 2009, we granted options to purchias® 50,000 shares of common stock to Little Gefe Ecience Partners in considera
for investor relation services. The options havexercise price of $0.55, vest 50% on the firstwersary, and 50% on the second anniver
of the agreement and expire on October 3, 2012.

On November 24, 2009, we granted options to puechasto 125,000 shares of common stock each te tfreur nonemployee directors, t
chief financial officer and the chief executiveioffr. The options have an exercise price of $0T#éik options for the noamployee directo
vest immediately and the options for the execuéwgployees vest over 2 years at the rate of 25%yesigrmonths. All options expire
November 24, 201«

On January 22, 2010, we granted options to purchjpde 50,000 shares of common stock to SectorkSipeeonsideration for investor relati
services. The options have an exercise price af/$dest 50% on the first anniversary, and 50%hensecond anniversary, of the agreel
and expire on January 22, 2013.

On May 17, 2010, we granted options to purchaseoup5,000 shares of common stock to a eaiployee director. The options have
exercise price of $0.45, vest immediately, and expn May 17, 2015.

On May 17, 2010, we granted options to purchastoyb,000 shares of common stock to each of 3 grepln The options have an exer
price of $0.45, vest over 2 years at the rate 86 2yery six months, and expire on May 17, 2015.

On August 10, 2010, we granted options to purchgse 75,000 shares of common stock to each ofr2enaployee directors. The optic
have an exercise price of $0.37, vest over 2 yaaitse rate of 25% every six months, and expirdiegust 10, 2015.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and fiiated Purchasers
There were no purchases or repurchases of oulyexpgtrities by the Company or any affiliated paszrs.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we did not isg¢aecontract to issue) equity securities withagdistration under the Securities Act of 1¢
as amended.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITIONS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Introduction to Management’s Discussion and Analys

The purpose of this section, Managememiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionl &esults of Operations, is to provide a nartri
explanation of the financial statements that ermbileestors to better understand our businessphiaree our overall financial disclosures
provide the context within which our financial imfisation may be analyzed, and to provide informa@out the quality of, and poten
variability of, our financial condition, results operations and cash flows. Unless otherwise inéitaall financial and statistical informat
included herein relates to our continuing operatiodnless otherwise indicated or the context otisrwequires, the words)rtelGenx
“Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our”refer to IntelGenx Technologies Corp. and its dlibsies, including IntelGenx Corp. This informat
should be read in conjunction with the accompanyingudited Consolidated Financial Statements artddNbereto.

Company Background

We are a drug delivery company established in 2Z0@Bheadquartered in Montreal, Quebec, Canadafc®us is on the development of nc
oral immediate-release and controliedease products for the pharmaceutical market. usiness strategy is to develop pharmace!
products based on our proprietary drug delivenhetogies and, once the viability of a product lhesn demonstrated, to license
commercial rights to partners in the pharmaceuticduistry. In certain cases, we rely upon partrerthe pharmaceutical industry to fu
development of the licensed products, completaegealatory approval process with the U.S. Food Bneay Administration (“FDA”)or othe
regulatory agencies relating to the licensed prtgjund assume responsibility for marketing anttidiging such products.

In addition, we may choose to pursue the developmiecertain products until the project reachesrtaketing and distribution stage. We
assess the potential for successful developmeatppbduct and associated costs, and then deteahimnbich stage it is most prudent to se
partner, balancing such costs against the potdoti@dditional returns earned by partnering latethe development process.

We have also undertaken a strategy under which iewark with pharmaceutical companies in orderdevelop new dosage forms
pharmaceutical products for which patent proteci®nearing expiration. Under §(505)(b)(2) of theoH, Drug, and Cosmetics Act, the F
may grant market exclusivity for a term of up toeth years of exclusivity following approval of atéd drug that contains previously apprc
active ingredients but is approved in a new dosdggage form, route of administration or combinatior for a new use, the approval of wi
was required to be supported by new clinical triather than bioavailability studies, conductedbyor the sponsor.

We are currently continuing to develop the existimgducts in our pipeline and may also perform aeste and development on other pote
products as opportunities arise.

We currently purchase and/or lease, on anessled basis, the equipment necessary for perfgrresearch and development activities rel
to our products.

We plan to hire new personnel, primarily in thezaoé research and development, on aneesded basis as we enter into partnership agres
and increase our research and development adivitie

Key Developments

We achieved a number of milestones in our stratdgielopment, growth and future income potentiedulghout 2010, and subsequent tc
end of the year, most notably:
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Private Placement Financing:

On August 27, 2010 we announced the closing ofiaar placement offering of 6,500,000 units at CABH per unit for gross proceed:
CAD#$2.6 million. Each unit consists of one commbare and one common share purchase warrant. Eacantvantitles the holder thereo
purchase one common share at an exercise pricAD$C.50 expiring on August 27, 2013. The procedds® private placement have and "
be used to support our strategic development pogetd for working capital purposes.

CPI1-300 Antidepressant Tablet:
Background:

On April 6, 2009, we submitted a New Drug Applicatti(“NDA”) to the FDA for CPI-300. CPBOO is a higher strength of the antidepres
bupropion HCI, the active ingredient in Wellbut.®. The NDA was accepted for standard review by the RDAune 2009. As requir
under NDA filings, our former development partnear Pharmaceuticals (“Cary”jhe NDA applicant, notified Biovail Laboratories
(“Biovail”), holder of the Wellbutrin XL® patent,fahe filing contending non-infringement of the Weitrin XL® patent.

On August 18, 2009, Cary was sued by Biovail in th8. District Court of Delaware for patent infrergent, under provisions of the D
Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Ac1384 (“Hatch-Waxman Act”)with respect to Biovail's U.S. Patent No. 6,096,
Pursuant to the HatcWWaxman Act, the filing of the patent infringemeatsuit by Biovail instituted an automatic stay @#A approval of th
NDA until the earlier of a judgment or January 812. On October 19, 2010, the Court granted a mdticsubstitute IntelGenx as defenc
and counter plaintiff in place of Cary.

Progress in fiscal 201(

On January 11, 2010, we announced a manufactutmgtsange for CPB00. The original manufacturer, PharmPro of Aurditimois was soli

to URL Pharma (“URL") of Philadelphia, PA. As a udtsof this acquisition, URL advised us that theguld no longer manufacture CB0O

We have identified and engaged Pillar5 Pharma(l'®illar5”) as the new manufacturing facility fdne product. Pillar5 operates a state-of-the-
art Good Manufacturing Practice (“GMP”) facility thia longstanding record of manufacturing quality producttfee pharmaceutical indust

As a result of the manufacturing site change, veepaeparing an amendment to the NDA.

On January 21, 2010, we announced that the U.&nPand Trademark Office had issued a formal Notitéllowance for the pate
application protecting CP300. The patent was subsequently issued on Mar2@1%) under the number US 7,674,479. The patehbwiliste
in the FDA’s Orange Book and will provide broad fgiion for CP1-300 against generic copies.

On February 8, 2010, we received a Complete Resplogiser (“CRL") from the FDA regarding CRI0. The CRL lists two main issues wt
need to be addressed before obtaining final apprayaualification of Pillar5 as the commercial m#acturing site and 2) an observed {
effect seen with CP800 and the reference product. The FDA found neratiotable deficiencies in the NDA. As noted in danuary 11, 20:
press release, the FDA was notified about Pillax5addition, we planned to conduct a pilot foodeeffstudy with CPB0OO tablets having
modified enteric coating. On June 10, 2010, wewitkt FDA to clarify the steps necessary to obtgipraval.

On May 7, 2010, we executed a Project Transfer ément (the “Agreement'\ith Cary, whereby Cary assigned its 50% ownerskeéie il
CPI-300 to us. Pursuant to the Agreement, IntelGand Cary (collectively, the “Partieshave agreed to terminate the Collabore
Agreement entered into in November 2007 and Camtydu agreed that the CBBO project be transferred and assigned to usdditian, Can
has assigned to us all rights and interest in ¢lgellatory approvals that Cary has or may have inatljding the NDA, and we have assur
responsibility for the costs associated therewitte. assumed full and complete authority with respe¢he prosecution and/or amendmet
the NDA and the commercialization of the produat/anthe technology encompassed in the 8B0-project. We also assumed all obligat
to, and responsibility for, the Biovail litigatiomcluding the costs thereof. In addition to certpdtential presommercialization payments,

will pay Cary, upon commercialization of CB0O, 10% of net sales royalties received by us3df upfront payments received by us sh
a distribution agreement be signed in the future.

On June 21, 2010, we announced that we had mettgtFDA to discuss our response to the CRL. Thenayg confirmed that it agrees w
the clinical plan we proposed to address the ptsijoobserved food effect and to demonstrate biwatgncy of product manufactured at
new manufacturing site. Based on the FDA's recondiaons regarding the stability data required tppsut the new manufacturing site,
expect to file the amendment to the NDA in thetfiralf of 2011.
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On January 4, 2011, we announced that the Unitetd$SDistrict Court of Delaware has ruled in owofaregarding claim construction for
two patent terms at issue in the patent infringenagtion brought forward by Biovail. The ruling ses from a special proceeding requ
under U.S. patent law called a "Markman Hearingérehboth sides present to the court their argun@ntsow they believe the patent termr
issue should be interpreted.

On February 3, 2011, we announced that the Unitate$ District Court of Delaware had dismissedlévesuit against us. Biovail agreec
dismissal of the action following the ruling on thlarkman Hearing.

Neuropathic Pain Tablet:
Background:

On April 14, 2009, we, together with our former dBpment partner, Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc. (fdynf@annasat Therapeutics It
“Cynapsus”),announced positive Phase 1b results for INTOOM)czal formulation of THC (dronabinol) for the sytomatic management
Multiple Sclerosis (MS) induced neuropathic paird ahemotherapy induced nausea. The randomizedesiluge, doubld®lind, crossove
study compared INT0010 with Marinol 2.5 mg in hbgltolunteers. INTO010 delivered twice the amourdronabinol into the bloodstream
the brand with no increase in side effects due tmpm@esponding reduction in the metabolite respmasfor the CNS adverse effects
dronabinol. INT0010 was developed using our praprieAdVersa buccal delivery technology.

Progress in fiscal 201(

On March 4, 2010, we, together with Cynapsus, anoed that the two parties had entered into a Leftértent ("LOI") under which we wou
acquire a fiftypercent ownership stake from Cynapsus and an exelugorldwide license to develop and commercialidd0010. The LO
detailed the terms under which the two parties @adgotiate an exclusive worldwide license, inabgdthe terms for shared milestones
royalties, which would result in us assuming sotedpct development and corresponding funding ad aslcommercialization rights 1
INTO010. Upon completing a definitive license agneat, we would forgive approximately CAD$231 thaudaf debt owed by Cynapsus.

On November 29, 2010, we announced that we haveiradgexclusive rights to, and ownership of, INTOOUnder the terms of a roys
based licensing agreement with PediPharm Ltd., btailmed worldwide rights to US Patent 7,592,328 alhdorresponding foreign patents .
patent applications to exclusively develop andhertprovide intellectual property protection forTiBD10. PediPharm received a signing
and would receive a milestone payment upon us sgcarcommercialization partner for the producbngl with a royalty from all sales of
product world-wide.

On December 31, 2010, we executed a License Agmewith Cynapsus, whereby, for forgiveness of agpnately CAD$231 thousand
debt and a royalty on future sales of the produetacquired full control of, and interest in, INTI@going forward.

Anti-Migraine Film:

On April 21, 2010, we announced the execution binaling term-sheet with RedHill Biopharma Ltd., lanaeli corporation ("RedHill"), to co-
develop and license IntelGenx' first oral thin fifproduct based upon our proprietary VersaFilm tetdgy. The product is intended for
rapid relief of migraine headaches.

On August 30, 2010, we and RedHill announced thatparties have executed a dmselopment and commercialization agreement fc
product. Under the terms of the agreement, Redtdill obtained certain exclusive worldwide rightsrtarket and sell our rapidly dissolv
antiimigraine oral film product. In exchange, we wilteédve upfront, milestone and external developmeas ftotaling up to $2.1 million frc
RedHill. RedHill will also be responsible for regtdry filing fees, if necessary. Upon commercidlaa of the product, we would receiv:
percentage of all proceeds including, but not kahito, all sales milestones and income from thdyrbworld-wide.

Erectile Dysfunction Film:

On September 2, 2010, we announced the complefienpilot study that indicates that we have sudcdlgsdeveloped a novel oral filr
INTOO07, which is likely to be bioequivalent to ating branded tablet containing a phosphodiesteéyage5 (PDES) inhibitor for the treatme
of erectile dysfunction. INTO07 has been developgidg our proprietary immediate release VersaFilagdlelivery technology.
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This was a randomized, two-period, tw@y crossover study in healthy male subjects. Thdyswas designed to determine whether IN1
will be bioequivalent in a pivotal bioequivalencyudy to a leading branded PCEinhibitor tablet as measured by industry stan
pharmacokinetic measures, peak plasma concentréflorax) and area under the curve (AUC). The studp aneasured time to pe
concentration (Tmax), a common determinant of miteabsorption. Our INTOO7 film reached Cmax 27%cHer than the oral tab
formulation, indicating a potentially faster onséfction.

Anti-Psychcotic Film:

On February 7, 2011, we announced the completioa pflot study that indicates that we have succdlgstieveloped a novel oral filr
INT0022, which is likely to be bioequivalent to@ating antpsychotic in a pivotal bioequivalency study. INTQ0Ras been developed us
our proprietary immediate release "VersaFilm" ddedjvery technology. According to IMS Health, thielgal antipsychotic market was wol
$22.5 billion in 2008.

This was a randomized, two-period, tway crossover study in healthy male subjects. Theyswas designed to determine whether INT(
will be bioequivalent to a leading amsychotic product in a pivotal bioequivalency stadymeasured by industry standard pharmacok
measures, peak plasma concentration (Cmax) and warger the curve (AUC). The study results indicttat INT0022 will likely bt
bioequivalent with the brand product and allowaiadvance the product to the pivotal bioequivalestagly.

VersaFilm Manufacturing:

On January 25, 2010, we announced a strategiaedliavith LTS Lohmann Therap®Bysteme AG (LTS) for the exclusive manufacturin
pharmaceutical products developed by us using ensdFilm drug delivery technology. VersaFilm is qoised of a thin polymeric film usi
components that are safe and accepted by the FDAsk in pharmaceutical products. VersaFilm pravidepatent-protected method of
formulating approved pharmaceuticals in a more eaient and discrete oral dosage form. We currédraiye six products in development ug
the VersaFilm technology.

Manufacturing Partnership and Ownership Position in Manufacturing Facility:

On April 30, 2010, we entered into a Memorandumgfeement (the "MOA") with Pillar5 Pharma Inc. Puast to the MOA, we undertake
use our best efforts to ensure that distributorsusforal solid dose pharmaceutical products dgesldor commercial production be directe
Pillar5 for purposes of negotiating a manufacturagreement requiring Pillar5 to manufacture thossdpcts. As consideration for t
undertaking, Pillar5 issued 114 voting common shafePillar5 to us, representing 10% of the issaed outstanding shares of Pillar5.
shares will be held in escrow and are forfeitalyl@i® until Pillar5 achieves certain revenue tarfieis the manufacture of products license:
us and are subject to restrictions on transferyaunsto the MOA. We have a right of first refugathe event of bona fide sale to a third par
all of the shares or substantially all of the ass#tPillar5. Pursuant to the MOA, we have desigda nominee to serve on the boar
directors of Pillar5 and Pillar5 has designatedminee to serve on our board of directors.

Currency rate fluctuations

Our operating currency is Canadian dollars, whilereporting currency is U.S. dollars. Accordinghyr results of operations and balance ¢
position have been affected by currency rate flabbms. The following management discussion andyaisatakes this into considerat
whenever material.
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Results of Operations— Year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the Yearded December 31, 200¢

Increase/ Percentage
In U.S.$ thousands 2010 2009 (Decrease) Change

Revenue $ 94¢ $ 1,27¢ (327) 26%
Other Income 38¢ 4 38¢ 9,625%
Research and Development Exper 1,747 1,42z 32t 23%
Research and Development Tax Cri (182) (185) (3) 2%
Management Salarie 747 584 168 28%
General and Administrative Expens 33t 36C (25) 7%
Professional Fee 1,64¢ 437 1,217 277%
Interest and Financing Fe 98 784 (68€) 88%
Foreign Exchange Ga 4 (98) (99) 96%
Income taxe: - (130) (130) 100%
Net Loss (3,09¢) (1,940 1,15¢ 60%
Revenue

Revenue decreased by $327 thousand, or 26%, toti®d8and for the year ended December 31, 2010 $@i75 thousand for the year en
December 31, 2009.

In the year ended December 31, 2010, royalty reeemarned from commercialization of the first paidully-developed by us, a pren:
multivitamin supplement marketed as Gesticaile@e USA, decreased by approximately 18% to $@8isand from $277 thousand in
previous year. The deterioration resulted froméased competition in the nutritional supplementkeiar

Revenue earned from our pharmaceutical partnersdéwelopment milestones achieved, including refundable upfront license fe
decreased by $278 thousand, or 28%, to $720 thdusampared with $998 thousand in the previous.y€he decrease is attributable
development contracts that were in effect durin@®hat have either been temporarily suspendedpposd, or terminated, and rel
primarily to the suspension of R&D operations byn@gsus Therapeutics Inc. (formerly Cannasat Theteselnc.) for projects to devel
products indicated for the relief of neuropathiinpand for schizophrenia, and Circ Pharma foradpct to reduce cholesterol. In addition,
commercialization of Gesticare® has resulted iralyyincome, which is partially offset by reduceglvdlopment milestones for this pnata
multivitamin supplement project. The development and commercialization agreement entatedvith RedHill Biopharma Ltd. on Augt
26, 2010 partially compensated for the reductioreirenue. In November 2010, we acquired from Cyasbsll control of, and interest in, 1
project for symptomatic management of Multiple $a$ts (MS) induced central neuropathic pain andratherapy induced nausea. We
currently negotiating with a number of potentiattpars related to new development projects foroeridrug candidates and, whilst the tin
of such events is difficult to predict, we are agttic of securing contracts in the near future.

Other Income

Interest and other income of $389 thousand wererded in the year ended December 31, 2010, compeitedb4 thousand in the previc
year. Included within other income in fiscal 20K0approximately $329 thousand relating to the -back of potential liabilities accrued
previous years that are no longer expected to aizeel, plus approximately $45 thousand relatethéorefund of investment tax credits
fiscal 2008 that exceeded the amount recordedcasveble.

Research and Development (“R&D”) Expenses

R&D expenses totaled $1,747 thousand in the yedeckBDecember 31, 2010 compared with $1,422 thouisetie previous year, represent
an increase of $325 thousand, or 23%.
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The increase in R&D expenses can be primarilyatted to a foreign exchange impact of approximagl$8 thousand arising from -
translation of our operating currency into our miag currency, and an increase in R&D expendifareclinical studies.

Included within R&D expenses for 2010 are R&D Sialarof $491 thousand, of which approximately $9udamd represents naast
compensation. This compares to R&D Salaries of $#@%usand in 2009, of which approximately $2 thowsaepresented nocast
compensation. The increase in R&D Salaries is milynattributable to the foreign exchange impactapproximately $44 thousand aris
from the translation of our operating currency ioto reporting currency, plus R&D staff salary ieases.

In the year ended December 31, 2010, we recordedated Research and Development Tax Credits dndds of $182 thousand, comps
with $185 that was recorded in the previous year.

Management Salaries and General and Administrativg"G&A”) Expenses

Management salaries increased from $584 thousafigtal 2009 to $747 thousand in fiscal 2010, repnging an increase of $163 thousan
28%. The increase is primarily attributable to sefgn exchange impact of approximately $68 thousarsing from the translation of ¢
operating currency into our reporting currency, feyment of Directors Fees in the amount of appnaxely $90 thousand (2009: §
thousand, albeit in 2009 Directors Fees were dladsunder general and administrative expenseserdtian management salaries), anc
payment of approximately $90 thousand (2009: $Miljespect of the termination of a consultancy egrent. These increases were part
offset by the decision of the Board of Directorswti grant performanceelated bonuses to management for the fiscal y&B0,2ompared wi
the amount of bonuses paid to management in theopieyear of approximately $63 thousand.

Included in management salaries are approxima@3ytousand (2009: $21 thousand) in mash compensation resulting from options gre
to management employees in 2008 and 2009, andhf2&dnd (2009: $29 thousand) in non-cash compens&tm options granted to non-
employee directors in 2010.

General and administrative expenses decreased3® thBusand in the year ended December 31, 2000 $260 thousand in the year en
December 31, 2009. The decrease relates to an armbapproximately $27 thousand related to a desd for the anticipated lease of r
premises that was written off in 2009 following ragement decision to remain at its current premises ferftiieseeable future, and a fun
reduction of approximately $28 thousand arisingrfrthe reclassification of Directors Fees from gaehemd administrative expenses
management salaries. These reductions were partiathpensated by a foreign exchange impact of appedely $30 thousand arising fre
the translation of our operating currency into mporting currency.

Included in general and administrative expenséisasvriteoff of a receivable in the amount of approximat®B23 thousand that was owel
us by Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc. We agreed to tite-off of this debt as part of the agreement to aegtufl control of, and interest |
project INTO010. An allowance for doubtful accouimtsespect of 50% of this receivable was recoroedis in the year ended Decembet
20009.

Professional Fees

Professional fees for the year ended December®N) Bcreased to $1,648 thousand compared to $4Risand for the year ended Decer
31, 2009.

The increase in professional fees is primarilyilattable to legal expenses of approximately $1 ®bisand (2009: $64 thousand) related t
defense of the Biovail lawsuit. On August 18, 2000r former development partner Cary Pharmacestieals sued by Biovail in the U
District Court of Delaware for patent infringemamider provisions of the Drug Price Competition &atent Term Restoration Act of 1¢
(HatchWaxman Act), with respect to Biovail's U.S. Patiiot 6,096,341. Under an agreement executed betusand Cary on May 7, 20:
Cary assigned to us its 50% ownership stake in3DBI-including all rights and interest in the regaty approvals as well as the NDA, anc
assumed full and complete responsibility for theuil litigation, including the costs thereof. OrtGber 19, 2010, the Court granted a mc
to substitute us as defendant and counter plaintiffiace of Cary. On January 4, 2011, we annouticatithe United States District Cour
Delaware had ruled in our favor regarding claimstarction for the two patent terms at issue inghtent infringement action, and on Febrn
3, 2011 we announced that the Court had dismissethtvsuit.

In addition, general legal expenses increased pyoapnately $145 thousand from $57 thousand in 2008202 thousand 2010, primarily ¢
result of (i) negotiations to acquire a strategimership position in Pillar5 Pharma Inc., a statéhe-art manufacturer of quality products
the pharmaceutical industry, (ii) the acquisitiooni Cary Pharmaceuticals of full ownership of GBB, a novel strength of the antidepres
bupropion HCI, the active ingredient in Wellbuti{h®, and (iii) the acquisition from Cynapsus Thepeatics Inc. of project INT0O010.
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Also included within professional fees are busindevelopment expenses of approximately $87 thoug@009: $30 thousand) a
shareholder/investor relations expenses of apprtein $182 thousand (2009: $135 thousand) of whjgbroximately $14 thousand (20
$38 thousand) is a non-cash expense for optiomgagido investor relation firms for investor retatiservices.

Share-Based Compensation Expense, Warrants and StoBased Payments

Share-based compensation expense, warrants aredbstsad payments totaled $170 thousand for the yekdeDecember 31, 2010, comp:
to $104 thousand for the year ended December 3B.20

On July 28, 2010, we restated the exercise pridghefvarrants issued with respect to the convertilgites transaction on May 22, 2007 f
$0.80 to $0.48. The restatement resulted in are@ss in the fair value of the warrant and an aatthli compensation charge of approxime
$96 thousand. There was no corresponding chardeiprevious year.

We expensed approximately $32 thousand in 201@gtions granted to our employees in 2008, 2009281d under the 2006 Stock Opt
Plan and approximately $28 thousand for optionsitgchto nonemployee directors in 2010, compared with $37 thodsand $29 thousal
respectively, which was expensed in the previoas.ye

We also expensed $14 thousand in 2010 for optioasted to investor relation firms for investor tala services, compared to $38 thous
that was expensed in 2009.

There remains approximately $68 thousand in stmxded compensation to be expensed in fiscal 20d2@h2 of which approximately $
thousand relates to the issuance of options tcemployees and directors during 2009 and 2010, gpdoaimately $14 thousand relate:
options granted to investor relations firms. Weicpate the issuance of additional options and args in the future, which will continue
result in stock-based compensation expense.

Financing Cost

Interest and financing fee expense totaled $98stod for the year ended December 31, 2010, compétie784 thousand for the year en
December 31, 2009.

On July 28, 2010, we restated the exercise pridghefvarrants issued with respect to the convertilgites transaction on May 22, 2007 f
$0.80 to $0.48. The restatement resulted in are@ss in the fair value of the warrant and an aatthi compensation charge of approxime
$96 thousand.

Included within the expense for 2009 were intepastments and an accretion expense totaling $59%#ml related to convertible notes is¢

in May 2007, the outstanding balance of which wasaid in September 2009. In addition, in the tljuérter of 2009, approximately $2
thousand of convertible notes were exchanged f6r1B8 shares of common stock. Certain convertibte holders took advantage of a one-
time option that arose as a result of our thirdrggra2009 Special Warrant Offering to convert pafrtthe convertible debt at CDN$0
(approximately US$0.36) per share as opposed ta@dheertible note agreement rate of $0.70 per shéhris conversion resulted in a d
conversion expense of approximately $175 thousahih was expensed in the third quarter of 2009.

Foreign Exchange

A foreign exchange gain of approximately $4 thousenas recorded in the year ended December 31, @@bpared with a foreign exchar
gain of $98 thousand in the previous year. Theidorexchange gains relate primarily to currencgtilations between the Canadian dollar
the U.S. dollar.

Net Loss

The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2@H$8,096 thousand and represents a deteriorétibh, 1656 thousand compared to the
loss of $1,940 thousand for the previous year.mh& items resulting in the increase in net logssaammarized as follows:

a) An increase in legal expenses of approximat&)g 6 thousand, of which approximately $971 thoddamelated to the defense of the
Biovail lawsuit.

b) An increase in R&D expenses of approximately $3#fusand, primarily related to clinical studi

C) An increase in management salaries of approxim&eds thousand, primarily related to directors f@ed severance payments, i
partially offset by the nc-payment of management bonus

d) A reduction in foreign exchange gain of approxirha$94 thousanc

e) A reduction in interest and financing fees of apgrately $686 thousand as a result of the repaymeBéptember 2009 of convertit
notes issued in May 2007, partially offset by thesl of the related deferred tax credit of approseiya5130 thousanc
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Included within the net loss for 2010 is approxietat$280 thousand related to a foreign exchangedtarising from the translation of «
operating currency into our reporting currency, ebhis the effect of the recent strengthening ofGheadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar.

Key Items from the Balance Sheet.

Increase/ Percentage

In U.S.$ thousands 2010 2009 (Decrease) Change
Current Asset $ 1,66¢ $ 2,70 $ (1,039 38%
Property and Equipme 15¢ 15¢ 0 N/A
Current Liabilities 34¢ 70t (35€) 50%
Total Equity 11,08’ 8,80¢ 2,27¢ 26%

Current Assets

Current assets totaled $1,665 thousand at Dece®ihe2010 compared with $2,703 thousand at Dece®be2009. The decrease of $1,
thousand is attributable to a decrease in cashcastl equivalents of approximately $381 thousande@ease in accounts receivabli
approximately $340 thousand, and a decrease istiment tax credits receivable of approximately $8ithisand.

Prepaid Expenses
As of December 31, 2010, prepaid expenses totalédtbusand as compared to $48 thousand at Dec&hb2009.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Excluding trade accounts payable and accrued iliaisil we are committed to the following contradtolaligations and commitments:

2011 (Less
than 1 Year) 1 Year or More
Operating Lease Obligatiol $ 17 $ Q
Investor Relation $ ¢ $ 0
Total $ € $ 0

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $1,144 thousaatl Becember 31, 2010, representing a decregb@8dfthousand as compared to $1
thousand as at December 31, 2009. On August 271, 204 completed a private placement of 6,500,006 &t CAD$0.40 (approximate
US$0.38) per unit for gross proceeds of CAD$2.8iomil(approximately US$2,465 thousand). Each uaitsists of one common share and
common share purchase warrant. Each warrant enthie holder thereof to purchase one common shaae axercise price of CAD$0.
(approximately US$0.47) expiring on August 27, 20IBe exercise price of the warrants is subje@dpistment for certain events, incluc
without limitation, dividends, distributions or &pbf our common stock, subsequent rights offerihgaus, or in the event of our consolidat
merger or reorganization. The proceeds of the miydacement have and will be used to support tategic development projects and
working capital purposes.

We paid an agent a) cash compensation in the antduU@AD$208 thousand (approximately US$197 thoupawtiich is equal to 8% of ti
gross proceeds of the offering, b) a corporatenfieafee of CAD$20 thousand (approximately US$1shad) and c) issued 520,
compensation options, which was equal to 8% ofrthmber of units sold in the offering. Each compépsaoption entitles the agent
purchase one common share at an exercise pricAD$E.50 (approximately US$0.47) expiring on Aug%t 2012. The exercise price of
compensation options is subject to adjustment éotain events, including without limitation, dividés, distributions or split of our comrr
stock, subsequent rights offerings by us, or inethent of our consolidation, merger or reorgandzati
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In addition, we paid approximately $140 thousanddsh consideration for other transaction costsofAhe above transaction costs have |
reflected as a reduction of the common sharesladarrants based on their relative fair values.

As at December 31, 2010, we had accumulated aidefi$9,761 thousand compared with an accumulatfitit of $6,665 thousand as
December 31, 2009. Total assets amounted to $tt8f%and and shareholdeesjuity totaled $1,476 thousand as at December @10
compared with total assets and shareholders’ eqti®2,862 thousand and $2,157 thousand, respbctagat December 31, 2009.

Accounts receivable totaled $278 thousand (20098%Bousand) as at December 31, 2010, of whichoappately $132 thousand is a sales
refund that we expect to receive in the first lndlR011. As part of the agreement to acquire faliteol of, and interest in, project INTO010,
agreed to write off approximately $223 thousand tias owed to us by Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc.llwance for doubtful accounts in
amount of $110 thousand was recorded againsteb&vable in the year ended December 31, 2009.

In addition, we had R&D investment tax credits reable of approximately $197 thousand as at Decertte 2010 as compared to $!
thousand as at December 31, 2009. We expect tivectte R&D investment tax credits during the fbuguarter of 2011.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at B 31, 2010 amounted to $349 thousand (Decenthe2(®9 - $05 thousand), of whit
approximately $80 thousand relates to researchdmvelopment activities, approximately $153 thousagldtes to professional fees,
approximately $112 thousand relates to accruedoflayabilities. Included within other accruals approximately $1 thousand due t
shareholder. The reduction in accounts payableaandued liabilities as at December 31, 2010 contpasith December 31, 2009 is prima
attributable to the write-back of potential liabés accrued in previous years that are no longeeaed to be realized.

Property and Equipment

As at December 31, 2010, the net book value ofgntygmnd equipment amounted to $159 thousand, cadpa $159 thousand at Decen
31, 2009. In the year ended December 31, 2010tiadslito assets totaled $37 thousand and comp#i3@dhousand for laboratory equipm
$3 thousand for computer equipment and $4 thoufamaffice equipment, fixtures and fittings. Totdpreciation in the year ended Decer
31, 2010 amounted to $44 thousand and a foreighaege gain of $7 thousand was recorded.

Capital Stock

As at December 31, 2010, capital stock amountef§i3@6 compared to $331 at December 31, 2009. Thedsre reflects the issuance
6,500,000 shares at par value of $0.00001 relateblet private placement completed on August 2702Qhpital stock is disclosed at its
value with the excess of proceeds shown in Addili¢taid-in-Capital.

Additional Paid-in-Capital

Additional paidin capital totaled $11,087 thousand at DecembefB10, as compared to $8,809 thousand at Decenih@089. The chan
is made up of increases of $1,490 thousand, $9gdstnd, and $117 thousand for the private placewmnpleted on August 27, 201C
relation to common stock issued, warrants, and tagenmpensation, respectively, as well as a deciab4£73 thousand for transaction cc
Additional paid in capital also increased by $96uband related to the modification of warrant teraved by $74 thousand for stobkse!
compensation of which approximately $14 thousandtisbutable to the amortization of stock optiogrgnted to our investor relatic
consultants and approximately $60 thousand idatable to the amortization of stock options grdnteemployees and directors.
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Key items from the Statement of Cash Flow

Increase/ Percentage

In U.S.$ thousands 2010 2009 (Decrease) Change
Operating Activities $ (2,580 $ (1,58¢) $ 99z 63%
Financing Activities 2,10¢ 2,131 (22 1%
Investing Activities (37) 254 (291) 115%
Cash and cash equivaler- end of perioc 1,14¢ 1,52t (381) 25%

Statement of cash flows

Net cash used by operating activities was $2,580gand in the year ended December 31, 2010, cothpar$1,588 thousand for the y
ended December 31, 2009. In fiscal 2010, net cast by operating activities consisted of an opegdtiss of $3,096 thousand and an incr
in noncash operating elements of working capital of $38@usand. The increase in net cash used by opgratitivities is primaril
attributable to the costs of the Biovail litigationrespect of CPB00, which was dismissed by the United States bigrourt of Delaware ¢
February 2, 2011.

Operating activities will continue to consume owuaitable funds until we are able to generate irmedaevenues.

The net cash provided by financing activities wasl$9 thousand in fiscal 2010, compared to $2,b8lidand provided in the previous y
The net cash provided in 2010 resulted from theapei placement completed on August 27, 2010 fosgpmoceeds of $2,465 thousand,
related transaction costs of $356 thousand. Oh#tecash provided by financing activities in theyious year, $3,873 thousand came |
private placements completed in the third quarfe20®9, less $678 thousand used to pay relatedaction costs of those private placem
and less $976 thousand used to repay the balarmmweértible notes that were outstanding at Sepger2d, 2009.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted3d thousand in the year ended December 31, 201@am®u to net cash provided of $.
thousand in the year ended December 31, 2009.dedlwithin the provision of funds in 2009 was apjraately $277 thousand in respec
the restricted cash for the CPI-300 project undercollaborative agreement with Cary Pharmaceustitedt was terminated on May 7, 2010.

Cash of $37 thousand was used to purchase cap#eisain the year ended December 31, 2010 (20@9thbRisand), including approximat
$19 thousand for laboratory equipment that washmsed from a shareholder, who is also an officéh@Company.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents as atribece31, 2010 amounted to $1,144 thousand, compar®t, 525 thousand at December
2009.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and suppleanedata of the Company required in this item setforth beginning on page JFef this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

We have had no disagreements with our independsgistered public accountants with respect to adoogirpractices or procedures
financial disclosure.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduas

Based on an evaluation under the supervision attd twe participation of our management, our Chieédutive Officer and Chief Financ
Officer have concluded that the Company's disclsantrols and procedures as defined in Rules 58)And 15dt5(e) under the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchangé) Awtre effective as of December 31, 2010 to ensuaeittiormation required to |
disclosed by the Company in reports that it fileswbmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded¢c@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the Securities andharnge Commission rules and forms and (ii) accutedland communicated to the Compa
management, including our Chief Executive Officad a&hief Financial Officer, as appropriate to alltmely decisions regarding requil
disclosure.

b. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Rporting

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 0&r have concluded that there were no changeseirCompanys internal controls ov
financial reporting during the quarter ended Deceni, 2010 that have materially affected or assoeably likely to materially affect t
Company'’s internal controls over financial repagtin

c. Management’s Report on Internal Control Over knhancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraathtaining adequate internal control over finahoégorting, as such term is definec
Exchange Act Rule 13a5(f). Our internal control system was designegruvide reasonable assurance to our managemertharigbard c
directors regarding the preparation and fair prieg¢am of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etlese systems determined to be effe
can provide only reasonable assurance with respdictancial statement preparation and presentation

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, assessed the éffecess of the Comparg/interns
control over financial reporting as of December 3010. In making this assessment, our managemextt the criteria set forth by t
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TremdwWwommission (COSO) in Internal Controlrtegrated Framework. Based on
assessment, we believe that, as of December 30, 2808 internal control over financial reportingsveffective based on those criteria.

This Annual Report does not include an attestateport of our registered public accounting firm asgjng internal control over financ
reporting. Management's report was not subjecttestation by the company's registered public actiog firm pursuant to temporary rules
the Securities and Exchange Commission that peén@i€Company to provide only management's repdtti;mAnnual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

We do not have any information required to be disetl in a report on Form 8-K during the fourth ¢eraof 2010 that was not reported.
PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this Item 10 retatito our directors, executive officers and corp®igovernance is incorporated by refert
herein from our proxy statement in connection weitit 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, which pretatement will be filed with the St
not later than 120 days after the close of ourfigear ended December 31, 2010.

Audit Committee . The Audit Committee is currently composed of J.red Boudreau, lan Troup and Bernd Melchers. ThéitA©Qommitte:
held four meetings during our 2010 Fiscal Year.

Our Audit Committee assists our board of directarsulfilling its responsibilities for oversight @nsupervision of financial and account
matters. The chairman of the Audit Committee iBdrnard Boudreau. Our Audit Committeeresponsibilities include, among other:
recommending to the board of directors the engagerok the external auditor and the terms of theeedl auditors engagement; (
overseeing the work of the external auditor, ingigddispute resolution between management andxtesral auditor, if required; (iii) pre-
approving all non-audit services to be providedisdby our external auditor; (iv) reviewing our firtdal statements, managemeandiscussio
and analysis and annual and interim earnings prelssses before this information is publicly diseéd; (v) assessing the adequac
procedures for our public disclosure of financigbrmation; (vi) establishing procedures to deahvdomplaints received by us relating to
accounting and auditing matters; and (vii) revieyvour hiring policies regarding employees of outeexal auditor or former auditor. We hi
adopted, along with our Audit Committee, a writigrarter of the Audit Committee setting out the nmatedand responsibilities of the Al
Committee which provides that the Audit Committeawene no less than four times per year.
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The Audit Committee Charter is posted on our websithttp://www.intelgenx.com

Accordingly, the Audit Committee discusses with RRithter, LLP, our auditors, our audited financ#htements, including, among ot
things, the quality of our accounting principlese tmethodologies and accounting principles apgbesignificant transactions, the underly
processes and estimates used by our managemenir ifinancial statements and the basis for the additconclusions regarding -
reasonableness of those estimates, in additidmetauditor's independence.

Audit Committee Financial Expeftir. Bernd Melchers serves as the Financial Expetti® Audit Committee. Mr. Melchers is amtiependet
director” as defined in the Nasdaq Stock Market, Marketplace Rules.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEtmat applies to our directors and officers,udelg our principal executive offic
principal financial officer and principal accourginofficer. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethgsposted on our website
http://www.intelgenx.com

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Certain information required by this Item 11 reigtito remuneration of directors and executive eficand other transactions involv
management is incorporated by reference herein fronproxy statement in connection with our 201hwd meeting of stockholders, wh
proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not fatiean 120 days after the close of our fiscal yated December 31, 2010.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain information required by this Item 12 relgtito security ownership of certain beneficial ovenand management is incorporates
reference herein from our proxy statement in cotioeavith our 2011 annual meeting of stockholdersich proxy statement will be filed wi
the SEC not later than 120 days after the closmiofiscal year ended December 31, 2010. For indbion on securities authorized for issue
under the equity compensation plan, see the seetititied “Market for Registrant’'s Common EquitydaRelated Stockholder Mattersi Par
I, Item 5, in this Annual Report on form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTORS INDEPENDENCE

Certain information required by this Item 13 relatito certain relationships and related transastiand director independence is incorpor
by reference herein from our proxy statement inneation with our 2011 annual meeting of stockhadearhich proxy statement will be fil
with the SEC not later than 120 days after theeclafsour fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Certain information required by this Item 14 redgagdprincipal accounting fees and services is @ghfunder Principal Accounting Fees a
Services"in our proxy statement in connection with our 2@hhual meeting of stockholders, which proxy statgmell be filed with the SE:
not later than 120 days after the close of oulfigear ended December 31, 2010.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a ) Financial Statements and Schedulek. Financial Statements
The following financial statements are filed astpdithis report under Item 8 of Part Il “Financitatements and Supplementary Data:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimg.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&0d2009
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded of December 31, 2010 and 2(

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareh’ Equity for the years ended of December 31, 20102009.

mo o w »

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as of Dece&ih@010 and 200!

T

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not included heraire been omitted because they are either not ezjuiiot applicable, or the informatior
otherwise included herein.

(b) Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Description
No.
2.1 Share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006rfocated by reference to the Fori-K/A filed on April 28, 2006)
3.1 Articles of incorporation (incorporated by refererto the Form S-2 (File No. 33:-90149) filed on November 16, 19¢€
3.2 By-Laws (incorporated by reference to the Forn-2 (File No. 33-91049) filed on November 16, 199
3.3 Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation ingorated by reference to amendment No. 2 to Fdr2 §ile No. 333135591
filed on August 28, 200¢
9.1 Voting Trust agreement (incorporated by referencihé Form -K/A filed on April 28, 2006)
10.1 Horst Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatecefgrence to the Form {-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!
10.2 Joel Cohen consulting agreement (incorporated feyerce to the Form -2 (File No. No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!
10.3 Ingrid Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatedeligrence to the Form $-2 (File No. 33--135591) filed on July @
10.4 2006) Registration rights agreement (incorporatedelference to the Form -2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!
10.5 Principal's registration rights agreement (incogped by reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33:-135591) filed on July 3, 200!
10.6 Investor relations consulting agreement (incorpeatdty reference to the Form -2 (File No. 33--135591) filed on July 3, 200¢
10.7 2006 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by referendti¢ Form -8 filed on November 21, 200
10.8 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporayectference to the Forn-K filed on May 23, 2007
10.9 Form of 8% Secured Convertible Debenture (incorgardy reference to the Forr-K filed on May 23, 2007
10.10 Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorpordigdeference to the Forn-K filed on May 23, 2007
10.11 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbenk¢-K filed on May 23, 2007
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10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24

10.25

10.26
10.27

10.28

10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36

10.37

10.38
10.39
10.40
14
16.1

211
23.1*
31.1*

31.2*
32.1*
32.2*

Form of Security Agreement (incorporated by refeesto the Form-K filed on May 23, 2007

Subsidiary Guarantee (incorporated by referen¢bead-orm -K filed on May 23, 2007

Deed of Hypothec (incorporated by reference taRibien ¢-K filed on May 23, 2007

Agency Agreement (incorporated by reference tdRten ¢-K filed on March 28, 2008

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated bgrefce to the Formr-K filed on March 28, 2008

Form of Amending Letter to Subscription Agreemént@rporated by reference to the For-K filed on March 28, 200€
Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorpordigdeference to the Forn-K filed on March 28, 2008

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbent¢-K filed on March 28, 2008

Form of Lock up Agreement (incorporated by refeeetecthe Form -K filed on March 28, 2008

Brokers Warrant (incorporated by reference to the Fo-1 filed on March 24, 200¢

Form of Amended and Restated Warrant (incorporayetference to the Forn-K filed on August 4, 200€

Employment Contract Paul A. Simmons (incorporatgddference to the Forn-K filed on September 5, 200

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan, Mag@®8 (incorporated by reference to the Fori-K filed on March 25
2009)

Co-Development and Commercialization Agreemétin RedHill Biopharma Ltd. (incorporated by regace to the Form 10-Q
filed on November 9, 201(

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan (imcated by reference to the Forr-8 filed on November 15, 201
Agency Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2010, éetvthe Company and Bolder Investment Partners (intcbrporated b
reference to the Form-K filed on August 30, 201(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of AugdseR10, by and among the Company and the purchpsesuant to the
offering (incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on August 30, 201(C

Form of Subscription Agreeme(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on August 30, 201(

Form of Warran(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on August 30, 201(

Form of Compensation Optic(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on August 30, 201(

Form of Amended and Restated Wari(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on July 29, 2010

Project Transfer Agreeme(incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q filed on May 14, 201C

Cc-development and Licensing Agreem(incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q filed on May 14, 201C

Agency Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2009, bysandng the Company, Bolder Investment Partners Utaion
Securities Ltd. and Paradigm Capital Inc. (incogbed by reference to the Fori-K filed on July 14, 2009) Registration Rig!
Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2009, by and anten@ompany, Paradigm Capital Inc., Bol

Investment Partners Ltd. and Union Securittds (incorporated by reference to the Form 8{&dion July 14, 2009) Form of
Subscription Agreement (incorporated by referendhé Form -K filed on July 14, 2009

Form of Special Warrai(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on July 14, 2009

Form of Warran(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on July 14, 2009

Form of Compensation Optic(incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on July 14, 2009

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ther€-1 filed on March 24, 200¢

Letter on change in certifying accountant (incogted by reference to the Form SB-2 (File No. 333583) filed on July 3,
2006)

Subsidiaries of the small business issuer (inc@atgarby reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200
Consent of RSM Richter Chamberland, L

Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, President and €hkieecutive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of Barbane-Oxley Act of
2002.*

Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief Financidfi®er, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002.*
Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, President and €hkieecutive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectl@%0.*

Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief Financidfi®er, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135(

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caubkes Form 10K Annual Report to
signed on its behalf by the undersigned on Marct2281, thereunto duly authorized.

INTELGENX TECHNOLOGIES CORP.

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbt
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

In accordance with the requirements of the Seesriixchange Act of 1934, this Form KOAnnual Report has been signed by the folloy
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicate

Signature Position Date

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 28, 201:
Horst G. Zerb

By : /s/Paul A. Simmor Chief Financial Office| March 28, 201:
Paul A. Simmon

By: /s/Bernard Boudreal Director March 28, 201:
J. Bernard Boudres

By: /s/ lan Troug Director March 28, 201:
John (lan) Trou

By: /s/Bernd Melcher: Director March 28, 201:
Bernd J. Melchel

By: /s/John Marinucci Director March 28, 201:
John Marinucc
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
IntelGenx Technologies Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. as aember 31, 2010 and 2009 and
related consolidated statements of operations antprehensive loss, shareholders' equity and casbs ffor the years then ended. Tt
financial statements are the responsibility of @mpany's management. Our responsibility is to esgran opinion on these finan
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtaasonable assurance whether the financial statsraee free of material misstatement.
Company is not required to have, nor were we emdjageerform an audit of its internal control oferancial reporting. Our audit includ
consideration of internal control over financiapoeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion orefifectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. As Buwe expres
no such opinion. An audit also includes examinimg a test basis, evidence supporting the amountsliaolosures in the financial stateme
An audit also includes assessing the accountingiples used and significant estimates made by gemant, as well as evaluating the o
financial statement presentation. We believe thatoidits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, these consolidated financial staeta present fairly in all material respects, thmaricial position of the Company as
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results opésations, comprehensive loss, and its cash flowthe years then ended in accordance
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gsiag concern. As described in no
to the financial statements, the Company has espeed operating losses and requires significantatap finance operations. This rai
substantial doubt about its ability to continueagging concern. Management's plans in regardegetmatters are also described in note 2
financial statements do not include any adjustmérasmay result from the outcome of this uncetiain

RSM Richter Chamberland LLP (Signt
Chartered Accountants

Montreal, Quebec
March 24, 2011
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009

(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Egpt Share and Per Share Data)

201( 200¢
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivale 1,14 $ 1,52¢
Accounts receivab 27¢ 61¢
Prepaid expens 47 48
Investment tax credits receiva 197 51z
1,66¢ 2,70:
Property and Equipment (note 6) 15¢ 15¢
1,828 $ 2,86
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 34¢ 70&
34¢ 70¢
Commitments (note 7)
Shareholders' Equity
Capital Stock (note ¢ 0 0
Additional Pai«-in-Capital 11,08 8,80¢
Accumulated Defici (9,767) (6,66%)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Lt 15C 13
1,47¢ 2,157
1,828 $ 2,86

See accompanying notes
Approved on Behalf of the Board:

/s/ J. Bernard Boudreau Director

/s/Horst G. Zerbe Director




IntelGenx TechnologiesCorp.

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Egpt Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paic-In Accumulater Comprehensivi Shareholders'

Number Amouni  Capital Deficit Income (Loss Equity
Balance- December 31, 200: 20,850,00 $ 0% 5,081% (4,729% (189)% 172
Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - 197 197
Issue of common stock, net of transaction costs of 11,076,00 - 1,84¢ - - 1,84t
$633.4 (note 8
Warrants issued, net of transaction costs of $3gm& - - 1,02¢ - - 1,02
9)
Stock-based compensation (note - - 104 - - 104
Agent¢ options (note 9 - - 161 - - 161
Options exercised (note 31,071 - 21 - - 21
Convertible notes conversio 705,15¢ - 42¢ - - 42¢
Agent¢ stock compensation (note 419,04( - 14& 14&
Net loss for the perio - - - (1,940 - (1,940
Balance— December 31, 200! 33,081,27 $ 0% 8,80¢$ (6,665% 12 $ 2,157

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Egpt Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paic-In Accumulater Comprehensivi Shareholders'

Number Amouni  Capital Deficit Income Equity
Balance- December 31, 200! 33,081,27 $ 03 8,80¢ % (6,665% 13$ 2,157
Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - 137 137
Issue of common stock, net of transaction costs of  6,500,00! 0 1,20« - - 1,20¢
$286.4 (note 8
Warrants issued, net of transaction costs of $18t& - - 787 - - 787
9)
Agent¢ options - - 117 - - 117
Modification of warrant terms (note - - 96 - - 96
Stoclk-based compensation (note - - 74 - - 74
Net loss for the perio - - - (3,096 - (3,096)
Balance— December 31, 201! 39,581,27 $ 0% 11,08 % (9,760)% 15C$ 1,47¢

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Egpt Share and Per Share Data)

2010 2009
Revenue 924¢ % 1,27t
Other Income 38¢ 4
1,33i 1,27¢
Expenses
Research and developrr 1,743 1,422
Research and development tax cr (182) (18%)
Management salar 747 584
General and administrat 33t 36C
Professional fe: 1,64¢ 437
Depreciatio 44 45
Foreign exchange gi 4) (98)
Interest and financing fe 98 784
4,43: 3,34¢
Loss Before Income Taxe (3,09¢) (2,070
Income taxes (note 1 - (130
Net Loss (3,096 (1,940
Other Comprehensive Income
Foreign currency translation adjusttr 137 197
Comprehensive Los: (2,959 $ (1,749
Basic Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstandir 35,325,10 24,527,54
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share (note (0.0 $ (0.0%)

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Egpt Share and Per Share Data)

2010 2009
Funds Provided (Used-
Operating Activities
Net los: (3,096 (1,940
Depreciatiol 44 45
Investor relations servic 14 38
Stoc-based compensatic 60 66
Allowance for doubtful deb (210 11C
Accounts receivable wr-off 22% -
Modification of warrant tern 96 -
Interest accretic - 524
Debt conversion exper - 17t
Deferred income te - (128)
(2,769 (1,110
Changes in n-cash operating elements of working capital (note 18¢ (47¢)
(2,58() (1,58¢)
Financing Activities
Issue of common stock and warre 2,465 3,87:
Transaction cos (35€) (67¢)
Repayment of shareholder lc - (88)
Repayment of convertible no - (97€)
2,10¢ 2,131
Investing Activities
Additions to property and equipm:i (37) (23
Restricted cas - 271
(37) 25/
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivaler (50¢) 797
Effect of Foreign Exchange on Cash and Cash Equivethts 127 172
Cash and Cash Equivalent:
Beginning of Year 1,52¢ 55€
End of Year 1,14« 1,52¢

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

1.

Basis of Presentatior

The Company prepares its financial statements @ordance with accounting principles generally ateg¢pn the United States
America (“USA”). This basis of accounting involves the applicatidraccrual accounting and consequently, revenuesgaints ar
recognized when earned, and expenses and lossecagnized when incurre

The consolidated financial statements include #t@ants of the Company and its subsidiary compai@esconsolidation, all inter-
entity transactions and balances have been eliedr

The financial statements are expressed in U.Ssfi

Management has performed an evaluation of the Coy's activities through the date and time these firrdrstatements were isst
and concluded that there are no additional sigaii@vents requiring recognition or disclost

Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming the Company will continue as a goimgern. The Company |
reported an accumulated deficit of $9,761 thous@@®9 - $,665 thousand). To date, these losses have beancéd principall
through the issuance of capital stock, Idagn debt and debt from related parties. Additiocapital and/or borrowings may
necessary in order for the Company to continuexistence and attain profitable operations. With @@mpany's existing worki
capital levels, it should be able to continue oftfena at least into the third quarter of fiscal 2@fased on historical factor

The first product full-developed by the Company, a prenatal multivitamippteement marketed as Gesti® in the USA, wa
commercialized in November 2008 and generated tpyatome of approximately $228 thousand in 2016 $877 thousand in 20(
To date, however, revenues for the Company havsisted primarily of research and development feeshave not been sufficient
sustain operations. Nonetheless, the Company dqexieto generate significant revenues from sateks rmanufacturing royalties
future years following successful development ammmercialization of products within its current glipe.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

2.

Going Concern (Con’d)

The Company currently has a pipeline of 12 produatter development. Of the products under developn@P-300, a higher strenc
of the antidepressant bupropion HCI, the activeddgnt in Wellbutrin XL®, formulated using the Cpany’s proprietary controlle
release technology, is the most advanced. The Coynpzbmitted a New Drug Application (“NDA”605(b)(2) for this product to t
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in thadt quarter of 2009. Subsequently, Biovail Labatia®SLR (“Biovail”), holder o
the Wellbutrin XL® patent, sued the Company in the U.S. District CafirDelaware for patent infringement. In Februa§12
following the courts ruling in favor of IntelGenx regarding claim ctmstion for the two patent terms at issue, the. DiStrict Court o
Delaware dismissed the litigation. Up to Decemkkr 2010 the Company expensed approximately $1aniliif direct costs related
this litigation and expects additional costs of rgpmately $200 thousand in the first quarter oL 20The Company anticipates F
approval of CF-300 during the second half of 2011, with commeizéaion of the product following in the fourth qter.

Nonetheless, in order to achieve profitability, @eue streams will have to increase significantfrcurrent levels and there is
assurance that revenues can increase to suchla

The Company raised net cash proceeds of approXynd@fel million through the issuance of common skam the year end
December 31, 2010 compared to net proceeds of @ppaitely $2.1 million (net of amounts used to regayvertible notes and de
raised in the previous year. The Company is cugre@aviewing cash requirements for fiscal 2011 idey to determine whether furtl
fundraising will be necessar

The Company can give no assurances that any agalittapital that it is able to obtain will be saféint to meet its needs, or will be
terms favorable to it. If the Company is unsucadsaf obtaining additional financing as needednéy be required to significan
curtail operations. The Company may also receivelsuthrough the exercise of outstanding stock apt@nd warrants in addition
funds that may be generated from pcemmercialization payments. There can be no asserdmt such proceeds, if any, will
material.

Should the Company be unable to continue as a gaingern, it may be unable to realize the carryialge of its assets and to mee
liabilities as they become dt

Nature of Business

The Company specializes in the development of pheemtical products in -operation with various pharmaceutical companies
Company has developed three proprietary techndagyiel is currently utilizing these to develop 18durcts, 4 of which are partner
Of these products, 1 has successfully completedtgivohase 1 trials, 2 are in preparation for @vqihase 1 trials, and 3 hi

successfully completed pilot phase 1 tri:

The Company'’s first product, a prenatal multivitarsupplement marketed as Gesticare@e USA, was commercialized in Noverr
2008. This product has generated approximately $@l®n in royalty revenues for the Company toel:
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

3.

Nature of Business (Cor’'d)

A NDA for the Compan’s second product, C-300, was submitted to the FDA in the first quade2009. CP- 300 is a higher strenc
of the antidepressant bupropion HCI, the activaddgent in Wellbutrin XL®, and was formulated usitige Companys proprietar
controlled release technology. FDA approval of GP0- is expected during the second half of 2011 thrdproduct is expected to
commercialized in the fourth quart:

The Company has a number of projects in developmidizting the Company’s “VersaFilmproprietary thin film technology, the m
advanced of which is a product intended for theidragelief of migraine. The Company entered into @development ar
commercialization agreement for this product wigdRill Biopharma Ltd., an Israeli corporation, hetthird quarter of 2010. Anott
VersaFilm project in the more advanced stages eéldpment is intended for the treatment of erectjsfunction.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure

On January 1, 2010, the Company adopted FASB AS10-P®, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurepi@820)". This Updat
provides amendments to Subtopic 8ZDand related guidance within U.S. GAAP to requigclosure of the transfers in and ou
Levels 1 and 2 and a schedule for Level 3 thatratglg identifies purchases, sales, issuances ettidraents. It also clarifies expos
disclosures requirements indicating that disaggesgdormation regarding classes of assets andlitiab that make up each level ¢
more detail regarding valuation techniques andtmplhis Update is effective for fiscal years begng on or after December 15, 2(
except for the disclosure regarding Level 3 agtiwhich is effective for fiscal years beginningeafDecember 15, 2010. The adop
of ASU 201(-06 did not have a material effect on the Com| s financial position or results of operatio

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognitior

The Company recognizes revenue from research arelagenent contracts as the contracted servicepeafermed or when milestor
are achieved, in accordance with the terms of gexiic agreements and when collection of the payni® reasonably assured.
addition, the performance criteria for the achiegahof milestones are met if substantive effort wexgiired to achieve the milestt

and the amount of the milestone payment appeasemally commensurate with the effort expended. Arteoteceived in advance
the recognition criteria being met, if any, arelimed in deferred incom:
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cor'd)

The Company has license agreements that specifycéingin royalties are earned by the Company tess# licensed products in
licensed territories. Licensees usually reportsaled royalty information in the 45 days after ¢éimel of the quarter in which the acti
takes place and typically do not provide the Corypaith forward estimates or curreqtarter information. Because the Company i
able to reasonably estimate the amount of royaéiesied during the period in which these licensedtgally ship products, roya
revenue is not recognized until the royalties aported to the Company and the collection of tmegelties is reasonably assur

Other Income

Included in other income is an amount of $329 thadsrelating to the wri-back of potential liabilities accrued in previousays the
are no longer expected to be realized and an anafuagtproximately $45 thousand relating to the mefof investment tax credits -
fiscal 2008 that exceeded the amount recordedcasveble.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith US GAAP requires management to make es@mand assumptions t
affect the reported amounts of assets and liaslitdlisclosure of contingent assets and liabilgiethe date of the financial stateme
and the reported amounts of revenues and expemnsigy dhe reporting period. The financial staterseimclude estimates based
currently available information and managementtigjuent as to the outcome of future conditions aindumstances. Significa
estimates in these financial statements includeutiedul lives and impairment of long-lived asssteckbased compensation costs,
investment tax credits receivable, the determimatibthe fair value of warrants issued as partuoidfaising activities, and the result
impact on the allocation of the proceeds betweercdmmon shares and the warra

Changes in the status of certain facts or circuntsts could result in material changes to the estisnased in the preparation of
financial statements and actual results could dfffam the estimates and assumptic

Financial Instruments

The Company estimates the fair value of its finahiristruments based on current interest rateskehamlue and pricing of financ
instruments with comparable terms. Unless othenwidiated, the carrying value of these finanamstiuments approximates their
value.

Cash and Cash Equivalent:

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of caskawnd and term deposits with original maturity daibkess than three months that
stated at cost, which approximates fair va



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

Accounts Receivable

The Company accounts for trade receivables atr@ignvoice amount less an estimate made for dali#teivables based on a rev
of all outstanding amounts on a quarterly basisng@ment determines the allowance for doubtful @uisoby regularly evaluatil
individual customer receivables and consideringustamer's financial condition, credit history angrent economic conditions. T
Company writes off trade receivables when theydaemmed uncollectible. As part of the agreementtuige full control of, and intere
in, project INT0010, the Company agreed to writé agfproximately $223 thousand that was owed to Goenpany by Cynaps
Therapeutics Inc. The Company records recoveriesaole receivables previously writtefi- when they receive them. Managen
considers that no allowance for doubtful accoustadcessary in order to adequately cover exposul@ss in its December 31, 2(
accounts receivable (20 $110 thousand

Investment Tax Credits

Investment tax credits relating to qualifying exgitares are recognized in the accounts at the ¢itrvehich the related expenditures
incurred and there is reasonable assurance of téalization. Management has made estimates ananasiens in determining tl
expenditures eligible for investment tax creditsroled.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Romgdor depreciation are based on their estimatsdul lives using the methods
follows:

On the declining balance meth-

Laboratory and office equipme 20%
Computer equipmet 30%

On the straight-line method -
Leasehold improvemen over the lease ter

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the adisgtosed of and the related accumulated depregiatie removed from the accot
and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Exjtenes for repair and maintenance are expenseucasred.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)
Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long-ived assets held and used by the Company arewetdlidor possible impairment whenever events or gearin circumstanc
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may notdweverable. Recoverability of assets to be held ased is measured b
comparison of the carrying amount of the assethacestimated undiscounted cash flows expecte@ tgeberated by the asset. If <
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairtodoe recognized is measured by the amount bghwihie carrying amount of t
asset exceeds the fair value ther

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's reporting currency is the U.S. dolldre Canadian dollar is the functional currencytled Company's Canad
operations, which is translated to the United Stalellar using the current rate method. Under théthod, accounts are translate
follows:

Assets and liabilities - at exchange rates in éfiéthe balance sheet date;

Revenue and expenses - at average exchange ratasdlipg during the year.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currencydiation are included in other comprehensive income.
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbe=ASB ASC 740 "Income Taxes". Deferred taxes@ovided on the liabili
method whereby deferred tax assets are recogniredefluctible temporary differences, and defereedliibilities are recognized 1
taxable temporary differences. Temporary differenae the differences between the reported amafirssets and liabilities and tt
tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced byatical allowance when, in the opinion of managemi¢ns more likely than not th
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets vélrealized. Deferred tax assets and liabilitresaajusted for the effects of change
tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax bengfitaccordance with FASB ASC 740 “Income Taxe8SC 740 prescribes
recognition threshold that a tax position is regdito meet before being recognized in the finarstatements and provides guidanc
derecognition, measurement, classification, inteeest penalties, accounting in interim periods, disete and transition issues. A
740 contains a twatep approach to recognizing and measuring unoetdai positions. The first step is to evaluate téheposition fo
recognition by determining if the weight of availlevidence indicates that it is more likely thant that the position will be sustair
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authoribgliding resolution of related appeals or litigatjrocesses, if any. The second st
to measure the tax benefit as the largest amoahtsimore than 50% likely of being realized upttimate settlement.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

Additionally, ASC 740 requires the Company to aecinterest and related penalties, if applicablealbtax positions for which resen
have been established consistent with jurisdictidaa laws. The Company elected to classify intesd penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax prowis

Share-Based Payment:

The Company accounts for sh-based payments to employees in accordance withrthasions of FASB ASC 718 "Compensai—
Stock Compensation” and accordingly recognizedsirfinancial statements sharased payments at their fair value. In additioe
Company will recognize in the financial statemeartisexpense based on the grant date fair valuedk siptions granted to employe
The expense will be recognized on a stralgtg-basis over the vesting period and the offsgttiredit will be recorded in additiol
paid-in capital. Upon exercise of options, the ddeation paid together with the amount previousigorded as additional paid-
capital will be recognized as capital stock. Thanpany estimates its forfeiture rate in order toedwmine its compensation expe
arising from stoc-based awards. The Company uses the I-Scholes option pricing model to determine the ¥alue of the options

The Company measures compensation expense fooii-employee stoc-based compensation under ASC -50, “Accounting fo
Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other Thaplyees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Sellj, Goods or Services". The 1
value of the option issued is used to measurertimsaction, as this is more reliable than thevalue of the services received. The
value is measured at the value of the Commanogmmon stock on the date that the commitmempéddiormance by the counterparty
been reached or the counterpastperformance is complete. The fair value of theitggnstrument is charged directly to compens:
expense and additional paid-in capital. For comistook issuances to n@mployees that are fully vested and are for fupeeods, th
Company classifies these issuances as prepaid sapamd expenses the prepaid expenses over theeggeviod. At no time has t
Company issued common stock for a period that elseae yeal

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on thghtesi average number of shares outstanding duhagyéar. Any antidilutiv
instruments are excluded from the calculation bftdd loss per shar

Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 applies to all assets and liabilities #rat being measured and reported on a fair value.SC 820 requires new disclos
that establishes a framework for measuring faiugain US GAAP, and expands disclosure about faluevaneasurements. T
statement enables the reader of the financial mtaies to assess the inputs used to develop thoasumegnents by establishin
hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability the information used to determine fair valuese Btatement requires that assets
liabilities carried at fair value be classified atidclosed in one of the following three categor

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for idehtisaets or liabilities
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservabldsrpat are corroborated by market d
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated biketaata
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

In determining the appropriate levels, the Comppaerforms a detailed analysis of the assets anditied that are subject to ASC 8.
At each reporting period, all assets and liabdgitier which the fair value measurement is basedignificant unobservable inputs
classified as Level 3. There are no assets oflitisbimeasured at fair value as at December 3102

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value represents manager’'s best estimates based on a range of methodolag@gsassumptions. The carrying valut
receivables and payables arising in the ordinarysm of business and the investment tax crediwivaole and the convertible nc
approximate fair value because of the relativelyrsperiod of time between their origination angbested realization. The loan paya
shareholder was presumed to have had a fair vahasuned by the cash proceeds exchanged at iss

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 2009-Fevenue Recognition (Topic 605)—Multipeeliverable Revent
Arrangements a consensus of the FASB Emerging 4sBask Force” (ASU 2009-13). ASU 2003-provides amendments to the crit
in ASC 605-25, “Revenue Recognition — Multiple-Elmh Arrangements” for separating consideration inltiple-deliverabl
arrangements. As a result of those amendmentsipheultieliverable arrangements will be separated in ngorimstances than unt
existing U.S. GAAP. ASU 200913: 1) establishes a selling price hierarchy fotedwining the selling price of a deliverable,
eliminates the residual method of allocation argliees that arrangement consideration be allocatéle inception of the arrangem
to all deliverables using the relative selling prinethod, 3) requires that a vendor determineeiss éstimate of selling price in a mar
that is consistent with that used to determine ghiee to sell the deliverable on a standalone bagissignificantly expands t
disclosures related to a vendor's multiple- deklde revenue arrangements. ASU 20@9is effective prospectively for rever
arrangements entered into or materially modifiedfigtal years beginning on or after June 15, 200l@e Company is curren
evaluating the impact of this Statement on its ofidated financial statemen
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

5.

Significant Accounting Policies (Con'd)

In April 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 2-13, “Compensatic—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Effect of Denomimgtthe
Exercise Price of a Share-Based Payment AwarderCilrrency of the Market in Which the Underlyingulfy Security Trades This
amendment clarifies that a shdrased payment award with an exercise price dendetinia the currency of a market in whic
substantial portion of the entity’equity securities trades shall not be considerembntain a market, performance, or service cam
Therefore, such an award is not to be classified leability if it otherwise qualifies as equityadsification. ASU 201@-3 is effective fc
fiscal years, and interim periods within thosedisgears, beginning on or after December 15, 2&H0lier application is permitted. T
adoption of ASU 201-13 is not expected to have a material effect orCihiapan’s financial position or results of operatio

In April 2010, the FASB issued Update No. 2-17, “Revenue Recogniti—Milestone Method (Topic 605): Milestone Methoc
Revenue Recognition"This ASU provides guidance on defining a milestameler Topic 605 and determining when it may
appropriate to apply the milestone method of reeenecognition for research or development transasti Consideration that
contingent on achievement of a milestone in itsretyt may be recognized as revenue in the periodhiith the milestone is achie\
only if the milestone is judged to meet certairiesia to be considered substantive. Milestones lshioel considered substantive in tl
entirety and may not be bifurcated. An arrangemesy contain both substantive and nonsubstantivestoihes that should be evalui
individually. ASU 201017 is effective on a prospective basis for milestachieved in fiscal years, and interim periodiwithos:
years, beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Ealtpton is permitted. The Company is currently eatihg the impact of this Statem
on its consolidated financial statemel

Property and Equipment

2010 2009
In US$ thousands Accumulatec  Net Carrying Net Carrying
Cost Depreciatior Amount Amount
Laboratory and office equipme $ 34€ $ 20C $ 14€¢  $ 13€
Computer equipmet 39 26 13 14
Leasehold improvemen 63 63 0 9
$ 44¢  $ 28¢ % 15¢ % 15¢




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

7.

Commitments

The Company entered into an agreement to leaseiggemp to August 2009 and subsequently extendedetim of the lease ur
August 2010 and again until August 2011. The futormimum lease payments until expiry of the extehdease period a
approximately $17 thousan

On October 1, 2009, the Company signed two neweageats with Little Gem Life Science Partners anct@&peak Inc. for invest
relation services in the USA and in Canada, respagt As part of the terms of these agreements,Gbmpany is required to pay fc
period of one year $4.5 thousand a month to Litam Life Science Partners and CDN$5.0 thousand 48Sthousand) monthly
Sector Speak Inc. The agreements automaticallyweméess specifically terminate

On May 7, 2010, the Company executed a Project sfearAgreement with one of its former developmeattmers whereby tl
Company acquired full rights to, and ownership@®I-300, a novel, high strength formulation of Bupraptoydrochloride, the acti
ingredient in Wellbutrin XL®In accordance with the Project Transfer AgreemieatGompany will be required to make a payments
former development partner within 45 days afterhbtite FDA notifies the Company of NDA approval 16PI1-300, and all otht
necessary U.S. Regulatory Approvals for GBG have been obtained. In addition, the Comparly veive to pay to its form
development partner 10% of net sales royaltiesvedeand 3% of upfront payments received, shoudstibution agreement be sigr
in the future.

Capital Stock

2010 2009

Authorized-
100,000,000 common shares of $0.00001 par \
20,000,000 preferred shares of $0.00001 pae
Issuec-
39,581,271 (December 31, 2C- 33,081,271) common shar $ 39 $ 331

On July 13, 2009, as part of a private placeméetQompany issued 10,476,000 special warrantsrémsgoroceeds of $3,631 thous:
Each special warrant consists of one common shadeoae common share purchase warrant. Each waerdittes the holder
purchase one common share at an exercise pric@.8® $er common share and expires 36 months &ieeddte of issuance. Proce
were allocated between the common shares and tirant& based on their relative fair value. The camrshares were recorded i
value of $2,338 thousand. (See note 9 for the oaillocated to the warrants.)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

8. Capital Stock (Cont'd)

The Company paid agents a cash commission in tlheisinof $291 thousand, which is equal to 8% ofgtass proceeds of the offeri
issued the agents 419,040 common shares of the &gmphich is equal to 4% of the number of speciatrants issued in the offeri
and issued agenteptions entitling the agents to acquire 838,08@suftionsisting of one common share and one cominare purchas
warrant) at an exercise price of $0.80 per uniticlvlexpire 36 months after the date of issuancehBearrant included in the agents’
options entitles the holder to purchase one comshane at an exercise price of $0.80 per commoresrat expires 36 months after
date of issuance of the ur

In addition, the Company paid approximately $37@udand in cash consideration for other transaciimts. All of the above transact
costs have been reflected as a reduction to thenconshares and the warrants based on their refafivealues

On July 22, 2009, as part of a private placemérat,Gompany issued 350,000 units to investors fosgproceeds of $128 thous:
Each unit consists of one common share and one oconshare purchase warrant. Each warrant entitieshtiider to purchase c
common share at an exercise price of $0.80 per amshare and expires 36 months after the dateso&ige. Proceeds were alloci
between the common shares and the warrants basttionelative fair values. The common shares weoarded at a value of §
thousand. (See note 9 for the portion allocatetti¢ovarrants.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $10Qusand in cash consideration for other transactimtse which have been reflecter
a reduction of the common shares and the warrassdoon their relative fair value

On September 3, 2009, as part of a private placernfenCompany issued 250,000 units to investargifoss proceeds of $93 thous:
Each unit consists of one common share and one oconshare purchase warrant. Each warrant entitieshtiider to purchase c
common share at an exercise price of $0.80 per amshare and expires 36 months after the dateso&ige. Proceeds were alloci
between the common shares and the warrants bas#teiorrelative fair value. The common shares weeorded at a value of $
thousand. (See note 9 for the portion allocatetti¢ovarrants.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $7 $and in cash consideration for other transactiatscavhich have been reflectec
a reduction of the common shares and the warrastscbon their relative fair value

On August 27, 2010, as part of a private placemir, Company issued 6,500,000 units for gross pdxef CAD$2.6 millio
(approximately US$2,465 thousand). Each unit césigiE one common share and one common share peretesant. Each warre
entitles the holder to purchase one common shasaam @&xercise price of CAD$0.50 (approximately U8$D.per common share ¢
expires 36 months after the date of issuance. Bdsceere allocated between the common shares andattiants based on their rela
fair value. The common shares were recorded ahee vd $1,492 thousand. (See note 9 for the posltotated to the warrant:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

8.

Capital Stock (Cont'd)

The Company paid an agent a cash commission iartteunt of CAD$208 thousand (approximately US$1@usiand), which is eqt
to 8% of the gross proceeds of the offering, a aafe finance fee of CAD$20 thousand (approximatéB$19 thousand), and issi
520,000 compensation options, which was equal t@B#%e number of units sold in the offering. Eacimpensation option entitles
holder to purchase one common share in the cagfitlie Company at an exercise price of CAD$0.5(@@ximately US$0.47) p
common share and expires 24 months after the dasuance of the uni

In addition, the Company paid approximately $14@ugand in cash consideration for other transaaasts. All the above transact
costs have been reflected as a reduction to thenconshares and the warrants based on their refafivealues

In the year ended December 31, 2010, no stock mpticere exercised compared to the year ended Deredih 2009 where 31,0
stock options were exercised for 31,071 commoneshhaving a par value of $Nil in aggregate, fohaamnsideration of $22 thousa
resulting in an increase in additional f-in capital of $22 thousan

Additional Paid-In Capital
Stock Options

In November 2006, the Company adopted the 2006kStaentive Plan ("Plan™) for the purpose of isguboth Incentive Options a
Nonqualified Options to officers, employees, dioestand eligible consultants of the Company. Altofal,600,749 shares of comn
stock were reserved for issuance under this plantio@s may be granted under the Plan on terms apdices as determined by
Board of Directors except that the options canmogtanted at less than 100%, of the fair markatevaf the common stock on the ¢
of the grant. Each option will be exercisable after period or periods specified in the option agrent, but no option may be exerc
after the expiration of 10 years from the date maings All options granted to individuals other thaon-employee directors will have
total vesting period of 24 months from the dateynt, with one quarter of the total options grdntesting and becoming exercise
every six months. Options granted to -employees will vest and become 100% fully exerdes@bmediately upon gran

At the Annual General Meeting on September 8, 20@8shareholders of the Company approved to anfen@@06 Stock Option Pl
to increase the number of shares available foarssel under the Plan from 1,600,749 to 2,074,000086 of the Compang’issued ar
outstanding common shares as of July 28, 2

A modification was made to the 2006 Stock OpticanPIThe life of the options was reduced from 10ryéa 5 years to comply with t
regulations of the TSX-V. Accordingly, because trantdate fair value of the modified options was lessntlthe fair value of tt
original options measured immediately before thaifimation, no incremental shalesed compensation expense resulted fror
modification.
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(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On March 11, 2009, the Company granted 25,000 stgtions to an employee to purchase common shates.stock options a
exercisable at $0.31 per share and vest over 2 w&5% every six months. The stock options weceunted for at their fair value,
determined by the Bla-Scholes valuation model, of $4 thousand, usindatewing assumptions

Expected volatility 100%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 2.49%
Dividend yield Nil

On July 13, 2009, the Company issued 838,080 agepti®ns exercisable into one common share at arciseeprice of $0.80 per sh
option, which expire on July 13, 2012. The agemptions were issued as part of the transactistsda connection with the privi
placement described in note 8. The agent’s opticgre accounted for at their fair value, as deteeahiby the Blackscholes valuatic
model, of $161 thousand, using the assumptionsibelo

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.41%
Dividend yield Nil

On October 3, 2009, the Company granted 50,00k stptions to Little Gem Life Science Partners aspensation for investor relati
services. The stock options are exercisable intongon shares at an exercise price of $0.55 per sipdi@n, which expire on Octobet
2012. The stock options vest 50% on the first, 8@% on the second, anniversary of the agreemesmtsidtk options were accoun
for at their fair value, as determined by the Bl&wholes valuation model, of $17 thousand, usiegagsumptions below:

Expected volatility 132%
Expected life 1.75 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.71%
Dividend yield Nil

On November 24, 2009, the Company granted 25,08k siptions to each of a director and to an offtoepurchase common sha
The stock options are exercisable at $0.61 peeshanve a term of 5 years and vest in equal inanesy@ver two years at 25% every
months. The stock options were accounted for at the value, as determined by the BlaSkholes valuation model, of $21 thous:
using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility 113%

Expected life 3.1 years

Risk-free interest rat 1.22%

Dividend yield Nil
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9.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On November 24, 2009, the Company granted 75,0k siptions to three n-employee directors to purchase common shares
stock options are exercisable at $0.61 per shatehame a term of 5 years with immediate vesting/igions. The stock options w«
accounted for at their fair value, as determinedhieyBlacl-Scholes valuation model, of $29 thousand, usinddhewing assumptions

Expected volatility 123%
Expected life 2.5 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.98%
Dividend yield Nil

On January 22, 2010, the Company granted 50,0@8 sfations to SectorSpeak as compensation for ioveslation services. The stc
options are exercisable into common shares at arcise price of $0.47 per share option, which expin January 22, 2013. The st
options vest 50% on the first, and 50% on the s#&canniversary of the agreement. The stock optieer® accounted for at their f
value of $15 thousand, as determined by the Blaticlgs valuation model, using the assumptions bielow

Expected volatility 120%
Expected life 3.0 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.39%
Dividend yield Nil

On May 17, 2010, the Company granted 75,000 stptioms to a noremployee director to purchase common shares. Do& sption:
are exercisable at $0.45 per share and have aofeBngears with immediate vesting provisions. Ttexk options were accounted fo
their fair value, as determined by the Black-Schaigluation model, of $21 thousand, using the ailhg assumptions:

Expected volatility 124%
Expected life 2.5 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.05%
Dividend yield Nil

On May 17, 2010, the Company granted 25,000 stptibms to each of 3 employees to purchase commareshThe stock options .
exercisable at $0.45 per share, vest over 2 yé&@5% every six months and expire on May 17, 20t& stock options were accour
for at their fair value, as determined by the Bl&wholes valuation model, of $23 thousand, usiegdiowing assumptions:

Expected volatility 129%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 1.30%
Dividend yield Nil




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

At the Annual General Meeting on June 3, 2010,Shareholders of the Company approved an amendmehet2006 Stock Opti
Plan to increase the number of shares availabls$oance under the Plan from 2,074,000 to 3,308d210% of the Companyissue
and outstanding shares as of April 5, 2(

On August 10, 2010, the Company granted 75,00k siptons to each of 2 noemployee directors to purchase common shares
stock options are exercisable at $0.37 per shas, aver 2 years at 25% every six months and expirAugust 10, 2015. The st
options were accounted for at their fair valuedeermined by the Blac&eholes valuation model, of $35 thousand, usinddhewing
assumptions

Expected volatility 118%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.78%
Dividend yield Nil

On August 27, 2010, the Company issued 520,000tsigations exercisable into one common share aba@ncise pricef CAD$0.5(
(approximately $0.47) per common share, which expin August 27, 2012. The agentptions were issued as part of the transe
costs in connection with the private placement desd in note 8. The agest'options were accounted for at their fair valug
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation mode§1df7 thousand, using the assumptions below:

Expected volatility 128%
Expected life 2 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.56%
Dividend yield Nil
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9. Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Information with respect to stock option activity 2009 and 2010 is as follow

Weighted averags

Number of options exercise prict

$

Outstandin¢e— January 1, 200 1,698,67! 0.7(
Granted 200,00( 0.5¢€
Forfeited (200,000 (2.00
Expired (319,51 (0.97)
Exercisec (31,07) (0.70
Outstandine— December 31, 200 1,348,08! 0.5¢€
Granted 350,00( 0.4z
Forfeited - -
Expired - -
Exercisec - -
Outstandine— December 31, 201 1,698,08! 0.5




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9. Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Details of stock options outstanding as at Decer8theR010 are as follow

Outstanding options

Exercisable options

Weighted Weighted
Weighted averags average average
Exercise Number of remaining exercise Aggregate Number of exercise Aggregate
prices options contractual life price intrinsic options price intrinsic
$ (years) $ value $ $ value $
0.31 25,00( 3.2t 0.31 18,75( 0.31
0.37 150,00( 4.67 0.37
0.41 800,00( 0.8¢ 0.41 800,00( 0.41
0.4£-0.47 200,00( 4.3¢% 0.4¢€ 106,25( 0.4¢€
0.55-0.61 175,00( 3.87 0.5¢ 150,00( 0.5¢
0.7¢-0.85 240,58t 2.6 0.8: 240,58t 0.8:
1.15 107,50( 1.5¢ 1.1F 107,50( 1.1F
1,698,08: 2.2 0.5¢2 1,00( 1,423,08 0.5¢€ 75C

Stock-based compensation expense recognized inigQ&gards to the stock options was $74 thousadadq -$104 thousand). As
December 31, 2010, total unrecognized compensatipanse related to unvested stock options wastka&and (2009 $50 thousanc
This amount is expected to be recognized as annsepever a period of two years. A change in contfothe Company due
acquisition would cause the vesting of these stuions to accelerate and would result in this amdaeing charged to stoddase:

compensation expense.

Warrants

On July 13, 2009 the Company issued 10,476,00(k gtacchase warrants exercisable into common shatré&9.80 per share whi
expire on July 13, 2012. The stock purchase wasramtre issued in connection with the July 13, 2pfi@ate placement describec
note 9. The stock purchase warrants were valuepll 294 thousand based on their relative fair vasisedetermined by the Black-
Scholes valuation model using the assumptions below

Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk-free interest rat
Dividend yield

117%

3 years

1.41%
Nil
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9.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On July 22, 2009 the Company issued 350,000 staohpse warrants exercisable into common shar$8.80 per share which exg
on July 22, 2012. The stock purchase warrants vgsteed in connection with the July 22, 2009 prialecement described in note
The stock purchase warrants were valued at $46#mbbased on their relative fair value, as detexthby the BlackScholes valuatic
model using the assumptions below:

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.50%
Dividend yield Nil

On September 3, 2009 the Company issued 250,08R ptachase warrants exercisable into common sler$6.80 per share whi
expire on September 3, 2012. The stock purchaseamtarwere issued in connection with the Septer8b&009 private placeme
described in note 9. The stock purchase warrants walued at $34 thousand based on their relatirevilue, as determined by
Black-Scholes valuation model using the assumpti@ew:

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.42%
Dividend yield Nil

On July 28, 2010, the Company restated the exepcise of the warrants issued with respect to thevertible notes transaction on M
22, 2007 from $0.80 to $0.48. The exercise pricéhebe warrants had previously been restated fhain original exercise price
$1.02 to $0.80 on March 19, 2008. Each of theseifinations was treated as an exchange of the aigirarrant for a new warrant
accordance to FASB ASC 718 “Compensation-Stock Gorsation”.The July 28, 2010 restatement resulted in an iser@afair valu
of the warrants of approximately $96 thousand. Tinisease was recorded as an additional compensatipense and a correspont
increase in additional paid-up capital.

The expiry provision of the Warrants has also basended such that the expiration date of the Wernaill be accelerated if tl
Company's common shares trade at, or above, $@o82bperiod of 60 consecutive trading days. Thelitrg price for purposes of t
amendment will be calculated by using the averdgthe closing prices on the Toronto Venture Excleagd the OTCBB. If tf
Company's shares trade above $0.625 for a peri&@ afonsecutive trading days, warrant holders thi#h have 30 calendar day:
exercise the Warrants they hold, after which timehsWarrants shall expire.
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9.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On August 27, 2010 the Company issued 6,500,008k sfiurchase warrants exercisable into common shate€AD$0.5!
(approximately US$0.47) per share which expire argdst 27, 2013. The stock purchase warrants weteedsin connection with t
August 27, 2010 private placement described in BofEhe stock purchase warrants were valued at $88and based on their rela

fair value, as determined by the Bl-Scholes valuation model using the assumptions be

Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk-free interest rat
Dividend yield

116%

3 years

0.83%
Nil

As at December 31, 2010, no additional stock pigetvearrants had been exercised.

Information with respect to warrant activity for@and 2010 is as follows:

Number of Weighted averagt

warrants exercise price

$

Outstandin¢— January 1, 200 6,678,22. 0.9t
Attached to private placemer 11,076,00 0.8C
Issued to agen 838,08 0.8(C
Outstandin¢- December 31, 20C 18,592,30 0.8%
Attached to private placeme 6,500,00! 0.47
Issued to ager 520,00( 0.47
Re-pricing - Cancellation of original warran (2,142,85) (0.80)
F-Issue of Warrant 2,142,85 0.4¢€
Expired (4,321,080 (1.02)
Outstandin¢- December 31, 201 21,291,22 0.6€
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10.

Income Taxes
Income taxes reported differ from the amount coragty applying the statutory rates to losses. €asons are as follow
2010 2009
Statutory income taxe $ (969) $ (692)
Net operating losses for which no tax benefits Haaen recorde 761 265
Excess of depreciation over capital cost allowe @ 15
Non-deductible expense 21 213
Undeducted research and development expe 24¢ 297
Tax deductible portion of transaction ca (37 (36)
Investment tax cred (57) (62
Modification of warrants term 3C -
Amortization of convertible debt discou - (130
$ - $ (130
The major components of the deferred tax assessifiled by the source of temporary differencesaaréollows:
2010 2009
Property and equipme $ (OR (18
Net operating losses carryforwe 1,08¢ 672
Undeducted research and development expe 57¢ 431
Non-refundable tax credits carryforwa 61€ 40¢
Transaction costs to be deducted in future y - 36
2,27 1,53(
Valuation allowanct (2,277 (1,530
$ - $ =

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2009 was3plthousand. The net change in the valuatiomalh@e during the period enc
December 31, 2010, was an increase of $747 thousanalssessing the realizability of deferred tageés management consic
whether it is more likely than not that some partar all of the deferred income tax assets will betrealized. The ultimate realizat
of deferred income tax assets is dependent upogeheration of future taxable income during theiquar in which those tempore
differences become deductible. Management consttierscheduled reversal of deferred income taililigls, projected future taxak
income, and tax planning strategies in making dsisessment. Based on consideration of these itear®agement has determined
enough uncertainty exists relative to the realiratf the deferred income tax asset balances tcantathe application of a full valuati
allowance as of December 31, 2010.
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10.

11.

Income Taxes (Con’d)

There were Canadian and provincial net operatirgsds of approximately $5,730 thousand (2- $3,505 thousand) and $4,i
thousand (2009 -3380 thousand) respectively, that may be applgainst earnings of future years. Utilization of thet operatin
losses is subject to significant limitations impd® the change in control provisions. A portiontloé net operating losses may ex
before they can be utilize

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had non-rafledax credits of $616 thousand (20093 thousand) of which $24 thous
is expiring in 2017, $213 thousand is expiring 018, $193 thousand is expiring in 2019 and $18@ithnd is expiring in 2020 a
undeducted research and development expenses9&Bibousand (20C- $2,235 thousand) with no expiration de

The deferred tax benefit of these items was naigeized in the account

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company does not expect its unrecognized tagflie to change significantly over the next twetwenths.

Tax Years and Examination

The Company files tax returns in each jurisdictiorwhich it is registered to do business. For gacisdiction a statute of limitatiol
period exists. After a statute of limitations periexpires, the respective tax authorities may mgéo assess additional income tax
the expired period. Similarly, the Company is nader eligible to file claims for refund for any t#éixat it may have overpaid. T

following table summarizes the Compasiynajor tax jurisdictions and the tax years thahae subject to examination by th
jurisdictions as of December 31, 20

Tax Jurisdictions Tax Years
Federa- Canads 2006 and onwar
Provincial- Quebec 2006 and onwar

Statement of Cash Flows Information

In US$ thousands 2010 2009
Accounts receivabl $ 227 $ (411
Prepaid expenst 2 (©)]
Investment tax credits receival 31k (24%)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (35%) 17¢
Changes in nc-cash operating elements of working cag $ 18¢ % (47¢)
Additional Cash Flow Information:

Interest paic $ 2 $ 6¢
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12. Related Party Transactions
During the year, the Company incurred expenseppfoximately $13 thousand (20- $18 thousand) for laboratory equipment le:
from a shareholder, who is also an officer of tlmenPany. The lease agreement covering the equipexgired on August 31, 2010 ¢
the Company purchased the equipment from a shatehfar a consideration of approximately $19 thowsia aggregate
Included in management salaries are $18 thousab@9(2$20 thousand) for options granted to the Chiefakaial Officer and $
thousand (2009 - $Nil) for options granted to th@et Executive Officer under the 2006 Stock Optielan and $28 thousand (2009 -
$29 thousand) for options granted to -employee director:

Included in general and administrative expensesliaeetor fees of $90 thousand (2C- $28 thousand) for attendance to board mee
and audit committee meeting

Included in accounts payable and accrued liaksliseapproximately $1 thousand (2(- $12 thousand) payable to shareholders, wh
also officers of the Compan

The above related party transactions have beenureghst the exchange amount which is the amouttieotonsideration establist
and agreed upon by the related par

13. Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Shar
Basic and diluted loss per common share is cakedlagsed on the weighted average number of shats&smding during the peric
The warrants, shatgased compensation and convertible notes have degunded from the calculation of diluted loss pearg sinc
they are an-dilutive.

14.  Subsequent Event:

On March 4, 2011, 227,625 age options were exercised into common shares of thepg@oy for gross proceeds of approxime
$114 thousanc
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report @mrfr 10-K of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. for thayended December 31, 2010;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogscontain any untrue statement of a material éfmcomit to state a material fi
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with respect to
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiateshents, and other financial information includedhis report, fairly present in .
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrargt’certifying officers are responsible for establighand maintaining disclosure controls and procesi@as define
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatgtnal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13&({f) anc
15d — 15(f) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls andgalures, or caused such disclosure controls mrwgures to be designed ur
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is made known to u
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the stegint's disclosure controls and procedures andepted in this report ¢
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on
evaluation;

C. Designed such internal control overficial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to t
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financigborting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles; and

d. Disclosed in this report any changehia registrans internal control over financial reporting thatcored during th
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasti’'s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrat’ certifying officers have disclosed, based on mast recent evaluation of internal control overafinia
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and maténveaknesses in the design or operation of intematrol over financial reportir
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, tthavolves management or other employees who hasmgraficant role in th
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 28, 2011 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report @mrfr 10-K of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. for thayended December 31, 2010;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogscontain any untrue statement of a material éfmcomit to state a material fi
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with respect to
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiateshents, and other financial information includedhis report, fairly present in .
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrargt’certifying officers are responsible for establighand maintaining disclosure controls and procesi@as define
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatgtnal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13&({f) anc
15d — 15(f) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls andgalures, or caused such disclosure controls mrwgures to be designed ur
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is made known to u
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the stegint's disclosure controls and procedures andepted in this report ¢
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on
evaluation;

C. Designed such internal control overficial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to t
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financigborting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles; and

d. Disclosed in this report any changehia registrans internal control over financial reporting thatcored during th
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasti’'s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrat’ certifying officers have disclosed, based on mast recent evaluation of internal control overafinia
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and maténveaknesses in the design or operation of intematrol over financial reportir
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, tthavolves management or other employees who hasmgraficant role in th
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 28, 2011 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of IntelGengchnologies Corp. (the “Company”) on Form K@er the year ended December 31, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio the date hereof (the “Reportl),Horst Zerbe, Principal Executive Officer of
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 135@dopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-@xlegf 2002, that:

@ The Report fully complies with thegquirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S¢iegrand Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Begairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and result of operations of
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqditgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyndl be retained by the Company i
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiots staff upon request.

March 28, 201: By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of IntelGengchnologies Corp. (the “Company”) on Form K@er the year ended December 31, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissia the date hereof (the “Reportl), Paul A. Simmons, Principal Financial :
Accounting Officer of the Company, certify, purstiém 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant @08sof the Sarbanedxley Act of 2002
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with trequirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Séiesrand Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2 The information contained in the Begairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and result of operations of
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqditgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadynédl be retained by the Company i
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiats staff upon request.

March 28, 2011 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




